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ELECTRICITY CORPORATIONS BILL 2003

EXPLANATORY MEMORANDUM

The Electricity Corporations Bill 2003 is one of three Bills necessary to facilitate
implementation of the Government’s electricity reform agenda.  The Bills give effect
to the recommendations made by the Electricity Reform Task Force in October 2002
and endorsed by the Government in November 2002.  

The electricity reforms include:

• establishing a wholesale market for the South West interconnected system;
• restructuring the vertically integrated Western Power into four new Government

owned entities to promote private sector competition;
• establishing an independent licensing regime for electricity industry participants; 
• establishing an Electricity Access Code to provide for third party access to

electricity networks in Western Australia; and
• implementing measures to protect customers in a competitive electricity market.

The Corporations Bill provides for the restructure of Western Power and creates the
four new Government owned entities of the Electricity Generation Corporation,
Electricity Retail Corporation, Electricity Networks Corporation and Regional Power
Corporation.

The Electricity Generation Corporation, Networks Corporation and Retail Corporation
will undertake Western Power’s existing functions in the South West interconnected
system.  The Regional Power Corporation will assume responsibility for Western
Power’s functions in the North West interconnected system and non-interconnected
regional systems.

The provisions within this Bill are modelled, to a large extent, on those contained in
the Electricity Corporation Act 1994 which provided for the establishment of Western
Power.  However, the opportunity has been taken to strengthen governance
arrangements on such matters as strategic development plans, statements of
corporate intent, powers of direction and ring-fencing arrangements.

In general, the majority of provisions contained in the Corporations Bill apply
universally to the new corporations.  This includes provisions relating to
establishment, responsibility of directors, accountability, finance and ministerial
direction.  In addition, the Bill sets out the specific functions of each corporation.

The functions have been broadly defined to encompass the full range of activities
that may possibly be performed by each corporation.  Notwithstanding this, the Bill
allows the Minister to restrict specific functions in order to encourage private
competition in the generation and supply of electricity.  

For example, a direction may require the Generation Corporation not to invest in new
generation until such time as the Government, based on advice from the Economic
Regulation Authority, determines that sufficient competition exists in the market.
Such restrictions are to be for a finite period in the transition from a Government
market to a competitive market.
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The Bill ensures that the four corporations will be well equipped functionally to
address future growth opportunities.  For example, the Bill provides that the
Generation Corporation may undertake retail activities and the Retail Corporation
may undertake generation activities following the expiry of a designated period. 

Similarly, the Bill provides that the Retail Corporation and Generation Corporation
may participate in the gas market.  Functions of the Retail Corporation, Networks
Corporation and Regional Power Corporation also enable these entities to provide
telecommunication services.

The Bill also provides mechanisms to limit the Generation Corporation’s ability to
exercise market power in selling its output.  These include the creation of a vesting
contract and initial supply contract between the Generation Corporation and Retail
Corporation for such matters as electricity supply.

As evidence of the Government’s commitment to establish a regional service
provider, the Bill specifies that the Regional Power Corporation is to be located in a
regional area.  The Chief Executive of the corporation will be required to reside in the
same location as the head office of the corporation.  Similarly, the majority of Board
members will be required to reside in areas outside of the South West interconnected
system.   

The Bill gives effect to Government’s policy that the four new entities should remain
in Government ownership.  The Bill provides that the new corporations must not
dispose of a significant asset, worth more than $100 million or 5% of the asset base
of the corporation, unless it is in accordance with a disposal order made by the
Minister.  Disposal orders will require the approval of both Houses of Parliament,
giving the Western Power successor entities maximum protection from privatisation.  

The Bill also places a requirement on the new entities to develop a job transfer
policy.  This policy provides for employment, training, exchange or secondment
opportunities between the four new corporations and reflects the Government’s
desire that Western Power employees continue to have enhanced career prospects.  
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ELECTRICITY CORPORATIONS BILL 2003

 Part 1 - Prelimin ary
Clause 1 Short title

This clause formally titles the Bill.

Clause 2 Commencement

This clause provides that the Bill comes into operation on the day
on which Part 2 of the Electricity Legislation (Amendments and
Transitional Provisions) Bill 2003 comes into operation.  Part 2 of
that Bill comes into operation upon proclamation which will be
published after the Minister for Energy has made the transfer order
which transfers the assets, rights, liabilities and legal proceedings
of Western Power to the new successor Western Power entities. 

Clause 3 Terms used in this Act

This clause defines the key terms used in the Bill.  Most of the
defined terms are the same as those in the Electricity Corporation
Act 1994, although the definitions have been amended and refer to
the successor Western Power entities (rather than to Western
Power).  Definitions of the successor Western Power entities:
("Electricity Generation Corporation", "Electricity Networks
Corporation", "Electricity Retail Corporation" and "Regional Power
Corporation") and the terms "Economic Regulation Authority", "gas"
and "South West interconnected system" have been included.
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 Part 2 - Electric ity Corporations
 Division 1 - Establishment of corporations

Clause 4 Corporations established

This is the clause which establishes the successor entities of
Western Power.  The clause establishes four bodies corporate
being:

(a) the Electricity Generation Corporation;

(b) the Electricity Networks Corporation;

(c) the Electricity Retail Corporation; and

(d) the Regional Power Corporation.

Each of the successor Western Power entities has perpetual
succession, and proceedings may be taken by or against each
successor entity in its corporate name.  These characteristics are
equivalent to those of Western Power as set out in the existing
section 4 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

Subclause (3) sets out the parameters for the use of trading names
by each successor entity.  Trading names must be approved by the
Minister.  This subclause replicates the existing section 4(4) of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

Clause 5 Corporations not agents of Crown

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 5 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides that the successor Western Power entities
(established as corporations under clause 4) are not agents of the
Crown, and removes them from the "shield of the Crown".

This clause is in line with National Competition Principles relating to
competitive neutrality.  

Clause 6 Corporations and officers not part of Public Service

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 6 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause excludes the successor Western Power entities and
their staff from the Public Service and the Senior Executive Service
under the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 
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Clause 7 Head office of Regional Power Corporation

This is a new clause in that there is no equivalent or similar
provision in the current Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides for the location of the head office of the
Regional Power Corporation to be in a part of the State not served
by the South West interconnected system.  

 Division 2 - Boards of directors

Clause 8 Boards of directors

This clause is similar to the existing section 7 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause prescribes that each successor Western Power entity is
to have a board of at least four but not more than six directors, who
are appointed by the Governor on the nomination of the Minister for
Energy.

The CEO of a successor Western Power entity can be appointed as
a director of the successor entity, but a member of staff can not.
Under the existing section 7 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994,
it is a mandatory requirement that the CEO be a director.  

Subclause (4) sets out the procedure to be followed by the Minister
in making nominations for directors.  In making a nomination, the
Minister must ensure that, except as set out in subclause (6), he or
she first consults with the board and that, in the case of an
appointment to the Regional Power Corporation, the nominee is a
person ordinarily resident in a part of the State not served by the
South West interconnected system so far as is necessary to ensure
that a majority of the directors of that successor entity are ordinarily
resident in a part of the State not served by the South West
interconnected system.  

Subclause (5) provides for recommendations for candidates to be
made by the board to the Minister where there is a vacancy on the
board.  

Subclause (6) sets out the circumstances in which the Minister is
not required to consult with the board before making a nomination.
The Minister does not need to consult in respect of initial
appointments or where the nominee has been nominated by the
board.
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Clause 9 Role of boards

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 8 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994 and is similar in effect to the
standard empowering provision in respect of a board of directors
contained in a public company's articles of association.

This clause provides that the board is the governing body of a
successor Western Power entity and will be responsible for
performing that successor entity’s functions under the Bill (as set
out in Part 3) and for determining its policies and controlling its
affairs.

Clause 10 Provisions about the constitution and proceedings of boards

This clause replicates the existing section 9 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause refers to Schedule 1 of the Bill which sets out the
constitution and proceedings of the boards of the successor
Western Power entities. 

Clause 11 Remuneration

This clause replicates the existing section 10 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the remuneration of non-executive
directors of the successor Western Power entities to be determined
by the Minister and resourced from that successor entity’s funds.

Remuneration must not be paid to a non-executive director who
holds a position that is remunerated out of moneys appropriated by
Parliament.

Clause 12 Conflict of duties

This clause replicates the existing section 11 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides that if a public servant is also a director of a
successor Western Power entity, then that person's duties as a
director prevail over his or her duties as a public servant.  This
clause also excludes immunities of the Crown in respect of the
performance by that person of his or her duties as a director.  
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Clause 13 Committees

The clause replicates the existing section 12 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the appointment, discharge, alteration and
reconstitution of committees comprised of directors of a successor
Western Power entity by its board.  A committee can determine its
own procedures, but must comply with any directions of the board.
A committee can invite other persons to participate in committee
meetings but such persons are not entitled to vote.

 Division 3 - Staff

Subdivision 1 – Chief Executive Officer

Clause 14 Appointment

The clause essentially replicates the existing section 13(1)-(3) and
(6) of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that each successor Western Power entity is
to have a CEO.  The power to appoint and remove the CEO and to
fix and alter the terms and conditions of his or her service are,
except in the case of the initial CEO, vested in the board, subject to
the board first obtaining the Minister's approval.  The Minister will
appoint the initial CEO of each successor entity.  

This clause further requires that the CEO of the Regional Power
Corporation must ordinarily reside in or near the location of the
town in which the entity's head office is located for the duration of
his or her term as CEO.

Clause 15 Role of chief executive officer

This clause replicates the existing section 14 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause sets out the responsibilities and powers of the CEO.
The CEO is responsible for, and has the powers necessary to
administer, the day to day operations of the successor Western
Power entity.  The CEO is subject to the control of the board in
carrying out this role.

Clause 16 Resignation

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 13(4) of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the resignation of the office of the CEO,
provided that the resignation is consistent with the terms and
conditions of service of the CEO.  
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Clause 17 Acting appointments

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 13(5) of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that the board is empowered to appoint an
acting CEO during the period of any vacancy in the office of CEO
and when the CEO is out of the State or unable to perform his or
her duties.

Subdivision 2 – Other staff

Clause 18 Powers in relation to staff

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 15 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994, subject to one exception.

This clause provides that the power to manage staff is vested in the
board.  That power includes the power to engage, remove,
discipline, suspend and determine the remuneration and terms and
conditions of service of staff members.  The clause also sets out
the minimum terms upon which the remuneration of staff members
must be affixed.  It also provides that nothing in the Bill, other than
clause 19(2), affects the operation of Part VID of the Industrial
Relations Act 1979.

Clause 19 Certain industrial matters excluded from employment
agreements

This is a new clause in that there is no equivalent or similar
provision in the current Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

Subclause (1) excludes the operation of Part II Division 2B of the
Industrial Relations Act 1979 (which deals with industrial
instruments) in respect of:

• matters dealt with by instrument under clause 21, except:

− rates of remuneration;
− leave;
− hours of duty; and
− matters that are similar to matters prescribed under section

99(1)(a)(iv) of the Public Sector Management Act 1994;
and

− matters concerning the management of staff that are
similar to the matters prescribed for the purposes of
section 99(1)(c) of the Public Sector Management Act
1994.  

Subclause (2) further provides that the matters referred to in
subclause (1) cannot be varied by an employer-employee
agreement made under Part VID of the Industrial Relations Act
1979.  
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Clause 20 Designation of executive officers

This clause replicates the existing section 18 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the designation of, and revocation of the
designation of, members of staff as executive officers of a
successor Western Power entity.  Executive officers are to be
designated by resolution passed by the board.

Subdivision 3 – Minimum standards for staff management

Clause 21 Standards to be set out in instrument

This clause replicates the existing section 16 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that the board of a successor Western Power
entity must, after consultation with the Commissioner for Public
Sector Standards, set the minimum standards of merit, equity and
probity applicable to the management of staff of that successor
entity.  In setting those minimum standards, the board must have
regard to the relevant principles contained in section 8 of the Public
Sector Management Act 1994.1

The requirement here is only to have regard to those principles.
The successor Western Power entities are not subject to or bound
by the Public Sector Management Act 1994.  

The Commissioner for Public Sector Standards has power to
recommend changes to the minimum standards prepared by the
board for the purposes of this clause, and the board may only
amend or revoke those minimum standards after consultation with
the Commissioner for Public Sector Standards.

Clause 22 Reports to Commissioner for Public Sector Standards

The clause replicates the existing section 17 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

                                                

1 These principles include:

• all selection processes are to be directed towards and based on a
proper assessment of merit and equity;

• no power with regard to human resource management is to be
exercised on the basis of nepotism or patronage;

• employees are to be treated fairly and consistently and are not to be
subjected to arbitrary or capricious administrative acts; and

• there is to be no unlawful discrimination against employees or
persons seeking employment in the Public Sector on a ground
referred to in the Equal Opportunity Act 1984 or on any other
ground.
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This clause provides that the Commissioner for Public Sector
Standards may at any time direct the board of a successor Western
Power entity to prepare a report to him or her on the observance of
minimum standards established under clause 21, and the board
must comply with such a direction.  The Commissioner has the
power to report to the Minister on the content or observance of the
minimum standards in force.  This clause enables the
Commissioner to bring to the Minister's attention any deficiencies in
minimum standards and any non-observance by the successor
Western Power entity of the minimum standards prepared for the
purpose of clause 21.

Subdivision 4 – Joint policy on staff transfers

Clause 23 Corporations to have joint policy approved by Minister

This is a new clause in that there is no equivalent or similar
provision in the current Electricity Corporation Act 1994, as Western
Power is the single employer.

This clause provides that the successor Western Power entities
must have, and comply with, a joint policy on staff transfers
between the successor entities and their subsidiaries that has been
approved or determined by the Minister.

This clause specifies that the purpose of the joint policy is to ensure
that members of staff of the successor Western Power entities and
their subsidiaries can transfer between the successor entities and
their subsidiaries without loss of entitlements:

• for temporary or permanent employment; 

• on secondment or temporary deployment; or

• for training.

This clause further specifies the procedure for the drafting and
approval of the joint policy.  This procedure includes that the
successor entities must jointly prepare a draft policy statement and
submit it to the Minister within two months of the commencement of
the Act.  The Minister may then approve or request amendments to
the draft policy statement.  If a policy statement has not been
approved by the Minister within a reasonable period, then the
Minister may determine the contents of the policy statement.

Clause 24 Amendment of Policy Statement

This clause also specifies the procedure for amending, revoking
and replacing policy statements.
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Clause 25 Consultation with Staff

The successor entities must consult with their staff and the staff of
their subsidiaries when preparing, amending or replacing a draft
policy statement.

The intent of the provision is to provide for staff career development
in the new corporations.

Subdivision 5 – General

Clause 26 Superannuation

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 19 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause allows a successor Western Power entity to establish,
manage and make contributions to a superannuation fund, subject
to section 30 of the State Superannuation Act 2000 (which requires
the Minister for Government Enterprises and the Treasurer to
approve the establishment and management of the fund).   

This clause also preserves the operation of the State
Superannuation Act 2000 in respect of a successor Western Power
entity and its staff.  

 Division 4 - Duties of, and relating to, directors and staff

Clause 27 Duties of, and relating to, directors

This clause replicates the existing section 20 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

The duties of the directors and of a successor Western Power entity
in respect of directors and related persons are set out in Schedule 2
to the Bill.

Clause 28 Chief executive officer, duties imposed

This clause replicates the existing section 21 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

Subclause (1) provides that clauses 2 - 11, 15 and 16 of Schedule
2 apply to the chief executive officer of a successor Western Power
entity.  These clauses are expressed to apply in addition to any
application that they may already have to a chief executive officer in
the capacity of director of a successor entity, if he or she is also a
director of that successor entity.  
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Subclause (2) provides that clauses 4 and 7 – 11 of Schedule 2
apply to a former chief executive officer in his or her capacity as
such, in addition to any application they may have if the former
chief executive officer of a successor Western Power entity was
also a director of that successor entity.  

Subclause (3) provides that this clause and clause 25 do not
operate to make a chief executive officer or former chief executive
officer liable to be punished twice for the same action.  

Clause 29 Executive officers, duties imposed

This clause replicates the existing section 22 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

Subclause (1) provides for the application of clauses 2 – 5, 7 – 11,
15 and 16 of Schedule 2 to an executive officer as if the references
to a director in those clauses were replaced with references to an
executive officer.  

Subclause (2) provides for the application of clauses 4 and 7 – 11
of Schedule 2 to a former executive officer as if references to a
former director in those clauses were replaced with references to a
former executive officer.  

Clause 30 Members of staff, duties imposed

This clause replicates the existing section 23 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994. 

Subclause (1) extends the application of clauses 4, 5 and 7 – 11 of
Schedule 2 to staff engaged under clause 18, other than executive
officers.  The subclause provides that references to a director in the
relevant clauses of Schedule 2 are to be taken to be references to a
person engaged under clause 18 of the Bill.  

Subclause (2) extends the application of clauses 4 and 7 –11 to
staff formerly engaged under clause 18, other than executive
officers.  The subclause provides that references to a former
director in the relevant clauses of Schedule 2 are to be taken to be
references to a person formerly engaged under clause 18.  

Clause 31 Codes of conduct

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 24 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.
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This clause provides that the board of a successor Western Power
entity must, after consultation with the Commissioner for Public
Sector Standards, prepare and issue codes of conduct setting out
the minimum standards of conduct and integrity to be observed by
members of staff of that successor entity.  When preparing these
minimum standards, the board must have regard to the principles
set out in section 9 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994.2

Once the minimum standards have been issued a board can only
amend, revoke or substitute a code of conduct after consultation
with the Commissioner.

Clause 32 Reports to Commissioner for Public Sector Standards

This clause replicates the existing section 25 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause empowers the Commissioner for Public Sector
Standards to require the board of a successor Western Power
entity to report to him or her on the observance by the successor
entity’s staff of any code of conduct in force and to make half yearly
reports to the Commissioner.  The Commissioner may then report
to the Minister on this issue.

Clause 33 Reports to Minister

This clause replicates the existing section 26 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause is an accountability mechanism.  It provides that the
board of a successor Western Power entity must deliver a separate
report to the Minister on the observance by staff of any code of
conduct at the time it delivers to the Minister its annual report.  A
copy of all such reports must be made available to the
Commissioner for Public Sector Standards.

                                                
2 These principles include:

• acting with integrity in the performance of official duties;
• being scrupulous in the use of official information, equipment and

facilities; and
• exercising proper courtesy, consideration and sensitivity in dealings

with the public and employees.
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 Part 3 - Functio ns and powers of corporations
 Division 1 - Functions, powers and related provisions

Subdivision 1 - Preliminary

Clause 34 Terms used in this Division

This clause defines “acquire”, “ancillary services”, “renewable
sources” and “telecommunication services” for the purposes of this
Division. 

References within this Division to a corporation’s functions being
limited to the South West interconnected system refer to the
performance of the function for the purposes of that system, or
customers served by that system, where the function relates to
electricity or within the area served by that system where it relates
to other functions.  

Subdivision 2 – Electricity Generation Corporation

Clause 35 Principal functions 

This clause sets out the functions of the Electricity Generation
Corporation, namely:

a) to generate, purchase or otherwise acquire, and supply
electricity;

b) to acquire, transport and supply gas and steam;

c) to provide ancillary services;

d) by agreement with the Regional Power Corporation, (i) to
provide consultative services and advisory services to that
corporation in relation to electricity generation, and (ii) to
operate and maintain any electricity generation plant or
equipment on behalf of that corporation;

e) to undertake, maintain and operate any works, system,
facilities, apparatus or equipment required for any purpose
mentioned in this clause.

Clause 36 Other functions 

This clause sets out the other functions of the Electricity Generation
Corporation, namely:

a) in addition to its functions under clause 35(d)(i), to use its
expertise and resources to provide consultative, advisory or
other services for profit;
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b) to develop and turn to account any technology, software or
other intellectual property that relates to a function under
clause 35;

c) to manufacture and market any product that relates to a
function under clause 35 or paragraph (b);

d) to use or exploit for profit the fixed assets it has for the purpose
of performing a function under clause 35 so long as the proper
performance of the function is not affected;

e) to do anything that the corporation determines to be conducive
or incidental to the performance of a function under clause 35
or this clause; or

f) to do anything that it is authorised to do by any other written
law.

Clause 37 Restriction on area in which may operate

This clause provides that the performance of the Electricity
Generation Corporation’s functions are limited to the South West
interconnected system, unless the performance relates to the
generation and supply of electricity from renewable sources or the
purchase or other acquisition and supply of electricity so generated.  

The clause further provides that the limitation does not apply to the
performance of the Electricity Generation Corporation’s function
under clause 35(d), which relates to the provision of services to the
Regional Power Corporation.

Clause 38 Directions relating to new generation

This clause provides that the Minister may by instrument in writing
direct the Electricity Generation Corporation not to establish any
new generation plant or replace, refurbish or add to any specified
generation plant.

An amendment or revocation of an instrument can only be made by
the Minister, after taking into account the views of the Economic
Regulation Authority.

Clause 39 Directions relating to the supply of gas

This clause provides that the Minister may direct the Electricity
Generation Corporation, by instrument in writing, not to sell or
supply gas within specified areas of the State, in specified
quantities or to specified customers or class of customers.  

The clause also defines the term “specified” for the purposes of
subclause (2).
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This provision in effect is a continuation of the current gas
prohibition order under clause 38A of the Electricity Corporation Act
1994.

Clause 40 Provisions relating to instruments under section 38 or 39

This clause requires the Electricity Generation Corporation to
comply with a direction under section 38 or 39.

The provision further provides for the Minister to amend a direction
under clause 38 or 39 and replace with further directions.

The Minister is required to cause a copy of any instrument to be laid
before each House of Parliament, or dealt with in accordance with
clause 137, within 14 days after it has been served on the
corporation.

Clause 41 Restriction on sale of electricity to consumers

Subclause (1) provides that the Electricity Generation Corporation
must not supply electricity under clause 35(a) to a person for the
person’s own consumption until the expiry of the designated period.  

Subclause (2) provides that the designated period is 7 years after
the commencement of this clause, or 10 years if an order is made
under clause 43.

The clause further provides that the Minister may authorise the
Electricity Generation Corporation to supply electricity to specified
customers or any specified class of customers during the
designated period by order published in the Government Gazette.
The Minister may also revoke any such order.

Clause 42 Review of restriction

This clause provides that the Minister must review the operation of
clause 41(1) within 5 years of the commencement of that clause to
determine the effect the clause has had, or is likely to have, on the
encouragement of competition in the generation, retail and
wholesale electricity markets.  

The clause further provides that the Minister is to take into account
the views of the Economic Regulation Authority before carrying out
the review.

Clause 43 Extension of designated period

This clause provides that the Minister may, by order, declare that
the designated period referred to in clause 41 may be extended to
10 years after completion of the review required by clause 42 or
before the expiry of the 7 year designated period.



ELECTRICITY CORPORATIONS BILL 2003
Part 3

17

The clause further provides that sections 41 and 42 of the
Interpretation Act 1984 apply to an order made under this clause as
if it were a regulation.  This requires the order to be published in the
Gazette and laid before both Houses of Parliament.

Subdivision 3 – Electricity Networks Corporation 

Clause 44 Principal functions 
This clause sets out the functions of the Electricity Networks
Corporation, namely:
a) to manage, develop, expand, enhance and reinforce electricity

transmission and distribution system and provide electricity
transmission and distribution services;

b) to do anything that it is authorised or required to do by Part 9 of
the Electricity Industry Act 2003 (which relates to the wholesale
market) and regulations and market rules made under that
Part;

c) to provide ancillary services;

d) by agreement with the Regional Power Corporation, to operate
and maintain electricity transmission and distribution systems
on behalf of that corporation;

e) by agreement with the Electricity Generation Corporation, the
Electricity Retail Corporation and the Regional Power
Corporation, to provide procurement, commercial and financial
services to those corporations;

f) to provide telecommunication services; and

g) to undertake, maintain and operate any works, system,
facilities, apparatus or equipment required for any purpose
referred to in this clause.

Clause 45 Other functions 

This clause sets out the other functions of the Electricity Networks
Corporation, namely:

a) in addition to the functions in clause 44(d) and (e), to use its
expertise and resources, other than those relating to the
functions referred to in clause 44(b), to provide consultative,
advisory and other services for profit;

b) to develop and turn to account any technology, software or
other intellectual property that relates to a function under
clause 44, other than a function referred to in paragraph (b);
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c) to manufacture and market any product that relates to a
function (i) under clause 44, other than a function referred to in
paragraph (b) or (ii) under paragraph (b) of this clause;

d) to use or exploit for profit the fixed assts it has for the purpose
of performing a function under clause 44, other than a function
referred to in paragraph (b), so long as the proper performance
of the function is not affected;

e) to do anything that the corporation determines to be conducive
or incidental to the performance of a function under clause 44
or this clause; or

f) to do anything that it is authorised to do by any other written
law.

Clause 46 Restriction on area in which may operate

This clause provides that the performance of the Networks
Corporation’s functions under clause 44 are limited to the South
West interconnected system, unless the performance relates to the
Networks Corporation’s function under clause 44(d) or (e) to
operate and maintain electricity transmission and distribution
systems on behalf of the Regional Power Corporation or to provide
procurement, commercial and financial services to the Generation
Corporation, Retail Corporation or Regional Power Corporation.

The clause further provides that the functions under clause 44(d) do
not authorise the corporation to own or control any electricity
transmission or distribution system. 

Subdivision 4 – Electricity Retail Corporation

Clause 47 Principal functions

This clause sets out the functions of the Electricity Retail
Corporation, namely:

a) to supply electricity to customers;

b) to purchase or otherwise acquire electricity for the purposes of
paragraph (a);

c) to generate electricity, but only after the expiry of the
designated period under clause 51;

d) to provide ancillary services;

e) by agreement with the Regional Power Corporation, to provide
retail support services to that corporation;

f) to acquire gas and supply it to customers;



ELECTRICITY CORPORATIONS BILL 2003
Part 3

19

g) to provide telecommunication services;

h) to undertake, maintain and operate any works, system,
facilities, apparatus, or equipment required for any purpose
referred to in paragraph (a), (c), (e) or (g).

Clause 48 Other functions

This clause sets out the other functions of the Electricity Retail
Corporation, namely:

a) in addition to its functions under clause 47(e), to use its
expertise and resources to provide consultative, advisory or
other services for profit;

b) to develop and turn to account any technology, software or
other intellectual property that relates to a function under
clause 47;

c) to manufacture and market any product that relates to a
function under clause 47 or paragraph (b);

d) to use or exploit for profit the fixed assets it has for the purpose
of performing a function under clause 47 so long as the proper
performance of the function is not affected;

e) to do anything that the corporation determines to be conducive
or incidental to the performance of a function under clause 47
or this clause; or

f) to do anything that it is authorised to do by any other written
law.

Clause 49 Restriction on area in which may operate

This clause provides that the performance of the Retail
Corporation’s functions under clause 47 are limited to the South
West interconnected system, unless the performance relates to the
Retail Corporation’s function under clause 47(e) to provide retail
support services to the Regional Power Corporation.

Clause 50 Directions relating to the supply of gas

This clause provides that the Minister may direct the Retail
Corporation, by instrument in writing, not to sell or supply gas within
specified areas of the State, in specified quantities or to specified
customers or class of customer.  

This clause further provides that the Minister may amend or revoke
an instrument or replace it with another instrument.  Amendments
or revocations are to be made by instrument served on the
corporation.  
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The Minister is required to cause a copy of any instrument issued to
be laid before each House of Parliament, or dealt with in
accordance with clause 137, within 14 days after it has been served
on the corporation.

The clause also defines the term “specified” for the purposes of
subclause (2).

This provision in effect is a continuation of the current gas
prohibition order under clause 38A of the Electricity Corporation Act
1994.

Clause 51 Prohibition on generation of electricity for a designated period

This clause provides that the Retail Corporation must not generate
electricity until after the expiry of the designated period.  The
designated period is 7 years after the commencement of this
clause, or 10 years if an order is made under clause 53.

Clause 52 Review of prohibition

This clause provides that the Minister must review the operation of
clause 51 within 5 years of the commencement of that clause to
determine the effect the clause has had, or is likely to have, on the
encouragement of competition in the retail and wholesale electricity
markets.  

The clause further provides that the Minister is to take into account
the views of the Economic Regulation Authority before carrying out
the review.

Clause 53 Extension of designated period

This clause provides that the Minister may, by order, declare that
the designated period referred to in clause 51 may be extended to
10 years after completion of the review required by clause 52 or
before the expiry of the 7 year designated period.

The clause further provides that sections 41 and 42 of the
Interpretation Act 1984 apply to an order under this clause as if it
were a regulation.  The effect of these provisions has been
described in relation to clause 43.

Subdivision 5 – Regional Power Corporation 

Clause 54 Principal functions

This clause sets out the functions of the Regional Power
Corporation, namely:

a) to generate, purchase or otherwise acquire electricity;
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b) to manage, develop, expand, enhance and reinforce electricity
transmission and distribution systems and to provide electricity
transmission and distribution services;

c) to supply electricity to consumers;

d) to acquire, transport and supply gas and steam;

e) to provide ancillary services;

f) by agreement with the Electricity Generation Corporation, to
operate and maintain any electricity generation plant or
equipment on behalf of that corporation;

g) to provide telecommunication services; and

h) to undertake, maintain and operate any works, system,
facilities, apparatus or equipment required for any purpose
referred to in this clause.

Clause 55 Other functions

This clause sets out the other functions of the Regional Power
Corporation, namely:

a) to use its expertise and resources to provide consultative,
advisory or other services for profit;

b) to develop and turn to account any technology, software or
other intellectual property, that relates to a function under
clause 54;

c) to manufacture and market any product that relates to a
function under clause 54 or paragraph (b);

d) to use or exploit for profit the fixed assets it has for the purpose
of performing a function under clause 54 so long as the proper
performance of the function is not affected;

e) to do anything that the corporation determines to be conducive
or incidental to the performance of a function under clause 54
or this clause; or

f) to do anything that it is authorised to do by any other written
law.
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Clause 56 Restriction on area in which may operate

This clause provides that performance of the Regional Power
Corporation’s electricity functions are limited to electricity systems
that are not served by South West interconnected system, with the
exception of providing services to the Electricity Generation
Corporation.  The performance of functions relating to supplying
gas or steam or providing telecommunication services are limited to
the same area.

Subdivision 6 – Special function in respect of certain assets and
liabilities 

Clause 57 Administration under delegated power

This is a new clause in that there is no equivalent or similar
provision in the current Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause allows matters that are retained by the State rather than
being allocated to a successor Western Power entity (such as a
particular contract or property), to be delegated to a successor
Western Power entity to be dealt with on behalf of the Minister.

Subclause (1) defines for the purpose of the clause those assets
and liabilities that were not allocated to one or more successor
Western Power entities pursuant to a transfer order made under the
Electricity Legislation (Amendments and Transitional Provisions)
Bill 2003 and which are, from the commencement day, to be dealt
with as the Minister directs pursuant to clause 43 of the Electricity
Legislation (Amendments and Transitional Provisions) Bill 2003.

This clause 57 empowers regulations to be made:

• declaring any, or a group of, specified unallocated assets or
liabilities to be an asset or liability or group to which this clause
applies (defined as "declared matters" for the purposes of this
clause);  and

• designating a successor Western Power entity to act in respect
of those declared matters.

If such regulations are in force, then the Minister is empowered to
delegate his or her powers and duties under clause 43 of the
Electricity Legislation (Amendments and Transitional Provisions)
Bill 2003 to the relevant successor entity and that successor entity
must perform the delegated powers and duties (on its own account
or through an officer or agent).  The performance of a delegated
power or duty is deemed to be done in accordance with the
delegation, unless the contrary is shown. 
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This clause further provides that regulations may prescribe
provisions of this Bill that do not apply, or have modified application,
to the declared matters or to the exercise of powers and duties
under this clause.

Subdivision 7 – Provisions applying to functions of all corporations 

Clause 58 Corporations may act at their discretion

This is a new clause in that there is no equivalent or similar
provision in the current Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause gives a successor Western Power entity the discretion
as to how and when it performs its functions, subject to the Bill and
any direction given by the Minister.  

Clause 59 Where corporation may operate 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 28(3) of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause prescribes the locations where a successor Western
Power entity may operate.  Successor entities are entitled to act
outside the State and, except as provided in Division 1 of Part 3 of
the Bill (which limits certain activities of certain of the successor
Western Power entities to the South West interconnected system or
to areas outside the South West interconnected system), in any
area of the State.  

Clause 60 Corporation to act in accordance with policy instruments

The clause replicates the existing section 29 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that a successor Western Power entity must
act in accordance with its strategic development plan and its
statement of corporate intent. 

Clause 61 Powers 

This clause is similar to the existing section 30 in the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994

This clause sets out the general powers of each of the successor
Western Power entities.  A successor entity has all the powers it
needs to perform its functions under the Bill or any other written
law.  Subclause (3) provides a non-exhaustive list of powers which
it is envisaged may be exercised by a successor entity in the
performance of its functions.  These include the power to:

• acquire, develop, manage and dispose of real and personal
property; 
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• enter into contracts; 

• establish and produce systems for the recovery, processing
and transport of fuel or energy; 

• participate in business arrangements, including by holding
shares; 

• carry out exploration, investigation and research; 

• exploit intellectual property; and

• promote and market the successor entity and its activities. 

The successor entity is also empowered to make charitable gifts for
the benefit of the community and ex gratia payments.  A successor
entity may also accept absolute gifts, or conditional gifts provided
that the conditions attached to such gifts are within the functions of
the successor entity.  

The powers of the successor entity are subject to any limitations
imposed by the Energy Operators (Powers) Act 1979.  

The powers set out in clause 61 are equivalent to those currently
contained in section 30 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994. 

Clause 62 Certain works exempt from planning laws

This is a new clause in that there is no equivalent or similar
provision in the current Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause applies to works carried out by the Electricity Networks
Corporation or the Regional Power Corporation to extend, expand
or enhance an electricity transmission or distribution system. 

This clause provides that the Electricity Networks Corporation and
the Regional Power Corporation are not required to comply with an
interim development order or a town planning scheme under the
Town Planning and Development Act 1928 in carrying out the
works described above.  However, the Electricity Networks
Corporation and the Regional Power Corporation are required to
carry out the works, so far as is reasonably practicable, consistently
with the order or scheme and must consult with the responsible
authority to ensure such consistency.

Clause 63 Corporation to act on commercial principles

This clause is similar to the existing section 31 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.
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This clause provides that in performing its functions, a successor
Western Power entity must act in accordance with prudent
commercial principles and endeavour to make a profit, subject to:

• Schedule 4 of the Bill (dealing with the procurement of new
generation);

• any direction given under the Bill; and 

• Schedules 5 and 6 of the Electricity Transmission and
Distribution Systems (Access) Act 1994 (dealing with third
party access to the Electricity Networks Corporation's and
Regional Power Corporation's electricity transmission and
distribution systems). 

Profit making endeavours must be consistent with maximising the
long term value of the successor entity.  

The performance of the functions set out in clause 44(b) by the
Electricity Networks Corporation is specifically excluded from the
operation of this requirement.  When performing those functions,
the Electricity Networks Corporation must ensure that the
reasonable costs of performing the function do not exceed its
revenue from doing so.  The System Management business unit of
the Electricity Networks Corporation (which is responsible for
system operation and market operation) will be required to carry out
its functions in the interests of market participants and effective
market operation under the guidance of a set of market rules,
endeavouring to ensure that revenue at least meets full operating
costs.

Clause 64 Segregation of functions of corporations

This is a new clause in that there is no equivalent or similar
provision in the current Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides for the making of regulations which:

• prescribe segments into which functions or operations of a
successor Western Power entity are to be divided; and 

• provide for, and in relation to: 

− the segregation of any segment so prescribed from the
other functions of a successor entity; or 

− the segregation from a successor entity of any subsidiary of
the successor entity that has functions of a specified kind.  

Any regulations which are made under this clause may provide for:

• the keeping of accounts and records;
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• financial reporting;

• apportionment of income, expenditure and liabilities;

• protection of information;

• conduct of officers of a successor entity; and

• controls and procedures, and the conferral of functions on a
specified person, which are necessary to ensure that the
segregation is effective.  

This clause is intended to allow sufficient flexibility in the Bill to
enable the maintenance of separate accounting systems for a
number of functions to be performed by the successor Western
Power entities.  It is envisaged that regulations will be made
providing for accounting separation of the Electricity Networks
Corporation’s two business units, being Network Management and
System Management, with auditable service agreements for
services shared or delivered between the two business units. 

It is also proposed that separate accounts will be kept in respect of
the Electricity Retail Corporation’s tariff customer activities and
contract customer activities to minimise the potential for cross
subsidisation between these activities.  Regulations may also be
made providing for accounting separation of the Regional Electricity
Corporation’s two business units, being activities in the North West
interconnected system and the 29 isolated systems  

Clause 65 Interruption or restriction of supply 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 32 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

Subclause (1) empowers a successor Western Power entity to
interrupt, suspend or restrict the generation, transport or supply of
electricity if it considers it necessary to do so because of an
accident, emergency, danger or some other unavoidable cause.
However, subclause (2) states that subclause (1) does not apply if
clause 31(1) of the Electricity Industry Bill 2003 (which permits a
holder of a generation, transmission, distribution, retail or integrated
regional licence to vary or interrupt the supply of electricity in
specified circumstances) applies to the activity that is being
interrupted, suspended or restricted.

The successor entity will only be liable for resultant loss or damage
where an agreement to which the successor entity is a party
provides for such liability.  
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The clause is expressed to operate in addition to and without
limitation of section 48 (Rights as to entry on lands, etc, in
emergency), section 57 (Supply system emergencies) and section
58 (Energy operator may not be bound to supply) of the Energy
Operators (Powers) Act 1979 and regulations made under clause
124 of the Electricity Industry Bill 2003.  Further, this clause is
expressed to have effect despite Schedules 5 and 6 of the
Electricity Transmission and Distribution Systems (Access) Act
1994 (which impose obligations to provide access to electricity
transmission and distribution capacity).  

Clause 66 Acquisition of subsidiary 

This clause is similar to the existing section 33(1) of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994, subject to one exception.

This clause provides that the approval of both the Minister and the
Treasurer must be obtained before a successor Western Power
entity forms or acquires a subsidiary.  The term subsidiary is
defined in clause 3 of the Bill.  In broad terms it includes:

• a subsidiary for the purposes of the Corporations Act; and 

• a unit trust, joint venture or partnership in which the successor
entity has a controlling interest. 

As indicated above, this clause is similar to the existing section
33(1) of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994, except that the
requirement to obtain the approval of the Treasurer set out in
clause 66(2) is an additional requirement.  

Clause 67 Control of subsidiary 

This clause is similar to the existing section 33(2)–(4) of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

Subclause (1) sets out the requirements which a successor
Western Power entity must ensure are contained in the constitution
of a subsidiary which is required under the Corporations Act or any
other written law to have a constitution.  The requirements include
those specified in Schedule 3 to the Bill.

Subclause (2) imposes a responsibility on a successor entity to
ensure (to the maximum extent possible) that a subsidiary complies
with its constitution and the Bill.  The Bill is to prevail in the event of
any inconsistency between the two.  

The provisions allowing for a director, chief executive officer or
member of staff to become a member of the committee of a
subsidiary incorporated association or a director of a subsidiary
company do not appear in the existing section 33 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  
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Clause 68 Corporations Act, effect of section 67 

This is a new clause in that there is no equivalent or similar
provision in the current Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

Subclause (1) provides that nothing in clause 67 of the Bill is to be
taken to make a successor Western Power entity or the Minister a
director of a subsidiary for the purposes of the Corporations Act. 

Subclause (2) declares clauses 67, 68(1) and Schedule 3 of the Bill
to be "Corporations legislation displacement provisions" for the
purpose of section 5G of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), thereby
allowing the constitution of a subsidiary to include the required
provisions, even if the procedures and requirements of the
Corporations Act are not complied with in relation to those
provisions.

Clause 69 Disposals that require a Ministerial order

This clause is a new clause in that there is no equivalent provision
in the Electricity Corporation Act 1994. The provision prevents the
disposal of significant parts of a successor Western Power
Corporation's assets without the effective approval of both Houses
of Parliament.   

Subclause (1) defines the terms "dispose of" and "significant asset"
for the purposes of this clause.  "Dispose of" is defined as entering
into any arrangement (or series of arrangements) that results in a
successor Western Power entity ceasing to have at least 75% of
the beneficial interest in a significant asset. "Significant asset" is
defined as property that has a value that is more than the greater
of:

• 5% of the written down value of the relevant successor entity's
consolidated fixed assets; and 

• $100 million. 

This clause prohibits a successor Western Power entity from
disposing of a significant asset except under a disposal order made
by the Minister, which disposal order may be conditional or may
prescribe a process to effect the disposal.

The clause provides for the application of sections 41, 42, 43 and
44 of the Interpretation Act 1984 to a disposal order as if it were a
regulation.  This means that the disposal order:

• must be published in the Gazette and will come into effect on
the day upon which it is so published; 

• must be laid before Parliament within 6 sitting days following
publications and is subject to disallowance; and
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• can be amended or repealed.  

Clause 70 Other transactions that require Ministerial approval 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 34 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that a successor Western Power entity must
obtain the approval of the Minister before it, or a subsidiary, enters
into any transaction (except for disposals under clause 69, and
transactions under clauses 130 or 132 of the Bill, which relate to
borrowing and hedging transactions) where the successor entity's
liability (being the amount of consideration or the amount to be paid
or received by the successor entity or a subsidiary) exceeds the
prescribed amount.  The clause sets the prescribed amount as
being the greater of an amount equal to 1% of the written down
value of the fixed assets and investments of the successor entity or
the sum of $20 million.  

The term "transaction" is defined in the clause to include any
contract or arrangement.  

Clause 71 Exemptions from section 70

The clause essentially replicates the existing section 35 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the making of orders by the Minister to
exempt a particular transaction or class of transaction from the
operation of the approval requirement contained in clause 70.  

Any exemption granted under clause 71 must be laid before each
House of Parliament or dealt with in accordance with clause 137
(when a House of Parliament is not sitting).  
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Clause 72 Minister to be consulted on major initiatives 

The clause essentially replicates the existing section 36 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause requires a successor Western Power entity to consult
with the Minister before it commences a major initiative or a course
of action that is likely to be of significant public interest.  The
requirement to consult on matters of significant public interest is not
limited to a transaction falling within clause 69.  

Clause 73 Delegation 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 37 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause sets out a successor Western Power entity's power of
delegation and provides that a successor entity may delegate any
power or duty of the successor entity under the Bill or any other
written law to a director, the chief executive officer, a staff member,
a committee established under clause 13 or any other person.  The
clause also sets out the formalities for the instrument of delegation,
and specifically preserves the successor entity's ability to perform
functions through officers and agents.  

 Division 2 - Role of Economic Regulation Authority

Clause 74 Advisory function

This clause provides that it is a function of the Economic Regulation
Authority to give advice under clauses 38(2)3, 42(3)4 and 52(3)5 and
to make any recommendations it thinks fit.

                                                

3 Advising the Minister on the amendment or revocation of an instrument
restricting the Electricity Generation Corporation from establishing new or
additional generation plant.

4 Advising the Minister on the operation of the restriction on the Electricity
Generation Corporation from selling electricity to consumers.

5 Advising the Minister on the operation of the prohibition on the Electricity
Retail Corporation from generating electricity.
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Clause 75 Public consultation

This clause requires the Authority to seek public comment before
giving advice on a matter under clause 74.  The Authority must
publish a notice in a State newspaper seeking public submissions
on the matter.  The Authority must have regard to the public
submissions received in accordance with the notice.

Clause 76 Advice to be published

This clause requires the Authority to publish any advice given under
clause 74 in a State newspaper or on its website.

 Division 3 - Arrangements authorised or approved by Governor 

Clause 77 Governor may make certain regulations 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 38 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the making of regulations which authorise
or approve any arrangement, act, matter or thing in relation to a
successor Western Power entity for the purposes of the Trade
Practices Act 1974 (Cth) and the Competition Code.  The
regulations may authorise or approve: 

• any arrangement relating to a successor Western Power entity
or a subsidiary or the performance of the functions of a
successor Western Power entity or a subsidiary; 

• any act or thing proposed to be done (or omitted to be done) in
the State by a successor Western Power entity or a subsidiary
in the performance of its functions; or

• any other matter or thing necessary or convenient to give effect
to the authorisation or approval.  

The term “arrangement” is defined in the clause to include any
contract, arrangement or undertaking or any market practice or
market or customer restriction, division, allocation or segregation of
any kind or a course of conduct or dealing.  

This clause is intended to ensure that the specified arrangements,
acts, matters or things in relation to the successor entities constitute
an exemption to the restrictive trade practices provisions of the
Trade Practices Act in accordance with section 51 of the Trade
Practices Act.
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 Division 4 - Protection of persons dealing with a corporation 

Clause 78 Persons dealing with corporation may make assumptions 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 39 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause sets out the assumptions which a person dealing with a
successor Western Power entity is entitled to make.  The
assumptions are set out in clause 80.  The clause also provides
that in any proceedings in relation to the dealings, the successor
entities cannot assert that the matters which the person was
entitled to assume are incorrect.  

Clause 79 Third party may make assumptions 

This clause replicates the existing section 40 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that a third party having dealings with a
person who has, or purports to have, acquired title to property from
a successor Western Power entity is entitled to make the
assumptions set out in clause 80.  

In any proceedings in relation to those dealings, the successor
entity concerned or the second party concerned is not entitled to
assert that the matters which the third party was entitled to assume
are incorrect.  

Clause 80 Assumptions that may be made

This clause replicates the existing section 41 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause sets out the assumptions that a person referred to in
clauses 78 or 79 is entitled to make.  Persons are entitled to
assume that, at all relevant times: 

• the Bill has been complied with; 

• that a person held out to be a director, CEO, member of staff or
agent has been properly appointed and has authority to
perform the function; 

• that a document properly issued is a genuine document; and

• that the directors, CEO, staff and agents have properly
performed their duties to the successor Western Power entity.  

The clause also sets out the assumptions which may be made with
respect to the execution of documents by the successor entity.  
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These assumptions are similar to those provided for in the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the benefit of a person having
dealings with a company incorporated in law.  

Clause 81 Exception to sections 78 and 79

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 42 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that a person is not entitled to make any of the
assumptions set out in clause 80 if the person has actual
knowledge or ought to have known that the matters referred to in
clause 80 would be incorrect.  

The exemption is also similar to the exemption contained in the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for persons who have dealings with
companies. 
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 Part 4 - Operati ons of corporations, imposition of
requirements

This Part is new in that there are generally no equivalent provisions in the current
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

 Division 1 – Initial arrangements between the corporations

It is intended that at the time of disaggregation various essential
contractual relations will come into force between the successor
Western Power entities.  For example an vesting contract (to
commit electricity for supply to tariff customers) and an initial
contract (to commit electricity for supply to contract customers) will
be established between the Electricity Generation Corporation and
the Electricity Retail Corporation.  

The purpose of these initial arrangements is to manage the
Electricity Generation Corporation’s ability to exercise market power
over a substantial proportion of its generation output.  The vesting
contract is also intended to ensure that the Electricity Retail
Corporation has access to a stable contracted generation supply to
support customers on uniform tariffs that cannot or chose not to
switch electricity suppliers.  It is intended that the Minister for
Energy will approve the terms and conditions of the vesting contract
and the initial contract pursuant to orders made under this Division
of the Bill.

This Division also gives effect to the intention that the Electricity
Generation Corporation's obligations under the vesting contract are
to end when the Minister for Energy determines that the Western
Australian electricity market is sufficiently competitive, based upon
advice from the Economic Regulation Authority.

Other such contracts will deal with, for example, access by the
other corporations to Electricity Networks Corporation's electricity
transmission and distributions networks, and the supply of gas by
Electricity Generation Corporation to Electricity Retail Corporation.

Clause 82 Definitions

This clause defines the term "specified" for the purposes of this
Division of the Bill.

Clause 83 Object of this Division

This clause specifies that the purpose of the Division is to confer on
the Minister power to determine arrangements between the
successor Western Power entities and their subsidiaries in order to:
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• encourage competition in electricity generation and retailing
and gas retailing; and

• establish the terms and conditions of the initial arrangements
between the successor entities and subsidiaries.

Clause 84 Minister may prescribe contracts

This clause empowers the Minister to make orders which prescribe
provisions that are to have effect as a contract (defined as a
"prescribed contract" for the purposes of the Division) between all
or some of the successor Western Power entities.  The Minister
must serve a copy of an order on each relevant successor Western
Power entity.

This is the clause under which the vesting contract, the initial
contract and the other contracts necessary to establish the initial
arrangements between successor entities, will be prescribed.

Clause 85 Matters that may be provided for

This clause describes the matters that may be provided for in a
prescribed contract (as defined in clause 84).  These matters may
include:

• any matters that the Minister believes are necessary or
expedient to achieve the purpose mentioned in clause 83 of the
Bill; 

• a specified amount of electricity to be supplied by one
successor Western Power entity to another successor Western
Power entity for a specified purpose and the prices or price
limits for that supply;

• rights, obligations of, and arrangements between, the
successor Western Power entities; and

• any incidental or supplementary provision that the Minister
considers necessary or expedient to include.
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Clause 86 Amendment and cancellation

This clause empowers the Minister to vary, add to, cancel and
replace a prescribed contract (as defined in clause 84).  The clause
requires the Minister to cancel contracts which are created to
encourage the development of competition in the generation and
retailing of electricity when he or she considers that the State
electricity market is operating in an open and competitive manner.
The Minister must serve a copy of each amendment and
cancellation order on each relevant successor Western Power
entity.

Clause 87 Enforcement

This clause provides that a prescribed contract is taken to have
been entered into between the relevant successor Western Power
entities and the rights and obligations under the prescribed
contracts are enforceable accordingly.  Therefore, one successor
entity can sue another successor entity for breach of contract. 

Clause 88 Advice of Economic Regulation Authority to be obtained

This clause requires the Minister to obtain, and take into account,
the views of the Economic Regulation Authority before cancelling a
prescribed contract under clause 86(2) or (3). 

Clause 89 Trade practices exemption

This clause provides that the making of an order under clause 84(1)
or 86, each prescribed contract and conduct authorised or required
by a prescribed contract is specifically authorised to the extent that
it would otherwise contravene the Trade Practices Act 1974 (Cth) or
the Competition Code. 

This clause is intended to ensure that the initial contracts, and
conduct undertaken in accordance with those contracts, constitute
exemptions to the restrictive trade practices provisions of the Trade
Practices Act in accordance with section 51 of the Trade Practices
Act.

 Division 2 - Procuration of new electricity generation 

Clause 90 Obligations imposed

This clause gives effect to Schedule 4 of the Bill which deals with
matters relating to the procurement of new electricity generation.  



ELECTRICITY CORPORATIONS BILL 2003
Part 4

37

Clause 91 Repeal of section 90 and Schedule 4

This clause provides that clause 90 and Schedule 4 of the Bill
(dealing with new electricity generation) may be repealed by
regulations made by the Governor on the recommendation of the
Minister.  The Minister is prohibited from making a recommendation
until he or she is satisfied that:

• a wholesale electricity market is in operation under Part 9 of
the Electricity Industry Bill 2003; or

• the procurement of new electricity generation that was in
progress under Part 7 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994
immediately before the commencement of this Bill has been
completed.
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 Part 5 - Provisio ns about accountability 
 Division 1 - Strategic development plans

Clause 92 Draft strategic development plan to be submitted to Minister 

The clause is similar in content to the existing section 43 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause requires a successor Western Power entity to prepare
and submit to the Minister a draft strategic development plan for the
successor entity and any subsidiary.  

However, this clause introduces a new provision allowing for the
Minister, with the concurrence of the Treasurer, to issue a notice to
the successor entity fixing a day for the submission of a draft
strategic development plan.  If no such notice is issued, the plan
must be submitted not later than 2 months prior to the start of the
next financial year.  This is an equivalent period to that currently
provided in section 43 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

Clause 93 Transitional provision 

This clause replicates the existing section 44 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause sets out the time period which is to be covered by the
first strategic development plan. 

Clause 94 Matters to be included in strategic development plan 

This clause is similar to the existing section 45 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  A new subclause has however also been
included.  

The strategic development plan must set out the successor
Western Power entity's economic and financial objectives and
operation targets and how these will be achieved.  It must cover a
forecast period of 5 years, or such lesser period as consented to by
the Minister.  

The clause prescribes the matters to which regard must be had in
the preparation of the plan.  These include competitive strategies
(where appropriate), product pricing, productivity levels, financial
and personnel requirements and capital expenditure.  
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New subclause (4) provides for the making of regulations dealing
with the form and content of the plan.  Any regulations must be
consistent with the requirements described above.  Subclause (5)
empowers the regulations to make special provisions for the
content of strategic development plans so far as they apply to the
System Management function within the Electricity Networks
Corporation. 

Clause 95 Strategic development plan to be agreed if possible

This clause differs from the equivalent provision in section 46 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause requires the board of a successor Western Power entity
and the Minister to reach agreement on a draft strategic
development plan as soon as possible and in any event no later
than the start of the following financial year.  The clause also
requires the board and the Minister to endeavour to reach
agreement on the draft plan at the same time as they reach
agreement on the statement of corporate intent under clause 104.  

As indicated above, this clause differs from the equivalent provision
in section 46 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  That section
required the plan to be submitted at least one month prior to the
end of the financial year and did not make reference to the
statement of corporate intent.  

Clause 96 Minister's powers in relation to draft strategic development
plan 

This clause essentially replicates the current section 47 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994. 

This clause sets out the powers of the Minister in respect of
strategic development plans.  The Minister is entitled to return a
plan to the board and request it to: 

• consider a particular issue and deal with that issue in the plan;
or

• revise the plan in light of its further consideration, 

and the board must comply with this request as soon as
practicable.  
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The Minister is empowered to direct the board to take specified
steps in respect of the draft plan or to make specified modifications
to the draft plan if the board and the Minister have not reached
agreement on the draft plan by one month before the start of the
next financial year.  Any direction given by the Minister must be
tabled before both Houses of Parliament or dealt with under clause
137 (when a House of Parliament is not sitting).  

Clause 97 Strategic development plan pending agreement

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 48 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides for the latest draft of the strategic development
plan to be the strategic development plan of the successor Western
Power entity and any subsidiary for the time being where the board
and the Minister have not been able to agree a strategic
development plan prior to the start of the financial year.  This draft
plan will continue to take effect as the plan until such time as a draft
strategic development plan is agreed under clause 98.  The term
"latest draft plan" is defined in the clause.  

Clause 98 Minister's agreement to draft strategic development plan 

This clause replicates the existing section 49 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

A draft plan becomes the strategic development plan for the
successor Western Power entity and any subsidiary for the relevant
financial year or remainder of the year (as the case may be), when
the board and the Minister reach agreement on it.  

Clause 99 Modifications of strategic development plan 

This clause replicates the existing section 50 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994. 

This clause provides for the modification of a strategic development
plan by the board with the agreement of the Minister or by the
direction of the Minister.  Before the Minister exercises the power to
direct the board to modify a strategic development plan, the
Minister is required to consult with the board and take its views into
account.  Any direction given by the Minister must then be tabled
before both Houses of Parliament within 14 days of being given or
dealt with in accordance with clause 137 (when a House of
Parliament is not sitting).  

By clause 100, the Minister's powers are subject to the concurrence
of the Treasurer.  
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Clause 100 Concurrence of Treasurer 

This clause replicates the existing section 51 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

The Minister's powers under clauses 98 and 99 with respect to
agreement and modification of a strategic development plan are
subject to the concurrence of the Treasurer.  

 Division 2 - Statement of corporate intent

Clause 101 Draft statement of corporate intent to be submitted to Minister 

The clause is similar in content to the existing section 52 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause requires the board of a successor Western Power entity
to prepare and submit to the Minister a draft statement of corporate
intent for the successor entity and any subsidiary. 

However, this clause introduces a new provision allowing for the
Minister, with the concurrence of the Treasurer, to issue a notice to
the successor entity fixing a day for the submission of a draft
statement of corporate intent.  If no such notice is issued, the plan
must be submitted not later than 2 months prior to the start of the
next financial year.  This is an equivalent period to that currently
provided in section 52 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

Clause 102 Transitional provision 

This clause replicates the existing section 53 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause sets out the time period which is to be covered by the
first statement of corporate intent.  The statement must be in
respect of the first full financial year after the commencement of this
Part of the Bill.  

Clause 103 Matters to be included in statement of corporate intent

This clause is similar in its content to the existing section 54 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994, but contains an additional
subclause.  

This clause specifies the matters which must be specified in the
statement of corporate intent.  Broadly, these matters include:

• performance targets;

• objectives; 

• the nature and scope of functions to be performed during the
relevant year; 
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• the main undertakings during the relevant financial year;

• financial and accounting policies; and 

• community service obligations.

The Minister is empowered to exempt a successor Western Power
entity from including any of the specified matters in its statement.  

New subclause (5) provides that the regulations may make
provision for the form and content of statements of corporate intent.
Again, provision is made for the regulations to make special
provisions for the content of statements of corporate intent in
relation to the System Management function within the Electricity
Networks Corporation.

Clause 104 Statement of corporate intent to be agreed if possible 

This clause in part replicates the existing section 55 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause requires the board of a successor Western Power entity
and the Minister to reach agreement on a draft statement of
corporate intent as soon as possible and in any event no later than
the start of the next financial year.  The clause also requires the
board and the Minister to endeavour to reach such agreement in
accordance with clause 95(b) (that is, at the same time as they
reach agreement on the draft strategic development plan).  

As indicated above, this clause in part replicates the existing
section 55 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994, but adds the
additional requirement that the board and the Minister reach
agreement in accordance with clause 95(b).  

Clause 105 Minister's powers in relation to draft statement of corporate
intent

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 56 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994. 

This clause sets out the powers of the Minister in respect of
statements of corporate intent.  The Minister is entitled to return a
statement to the board and request it to: 

• consider a particular issue and deal with that issue in the
statement; and

• revise the statement in light of its further consideration, 

and the board must comply with this request as soon as
practicable.  
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The Minister is empowered to direct the board to take specified
steps in respect of the draft statement or to make specified
modifications to the draft statement if the board and the Minister
have not reached agreement on the draft statement by one month
before the start of the next financial year.  Any direction given by
the Minister must be tabled before both Houses of Parliament or
dealt with under clause 137 (when a House of Parliament is not
sitting).  

Clause 106 Statement of corporate intent pending agreement

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 57 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides for the latest draft of the statement of
corporate intent to be the statement of corporate intent of the
successor Western Power entity and any subsidiary for the time
being where the board and the Minister have not been able to
agree a statement of corporate intent prior to the start of the
financial year.  This draft statement will continue to take effect as
the plan until such time as a draft statement of corporate intent is
agreed under clause 107.  The term "latest draft statement" is
defined in the clause.  

Clause 107 Minister's agreement to draft statement of corporate intent

This clause is similar in its terms to the existing section 58 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

A draft plan becomes the statement of corporate intent for the
successor Western Power entity and any subsidiary for the relevant
financial year or remainder of the year (as the case may be), when
the board and the Minister reach agreement on it.  

Within 14 days of agreement being reached, the statement must be
tabled before each House of Parliament or dealt with in accordance
with clause 137 (when a House of Parliament is not sitting).  The
board may request that the Minister delete any commercially
sensitive information from the statement, and the Minister may do
so.  Where information is deleted, the copy of the statement from
which it has been deleted must contain a statement at the place
where the information has been deleted explaining the reasons for
the deletion, and be accompanied by a statement from the Auditor-
General stating whether or not the information deleted is
commercially sensitive.  
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The requirement to explain the reasons for the deletion of
information and to obtain the advice of the Auditor General is an
additional requirement which does not appear in the existing
section 58 and has been included to provide for greater
transparency.

Clause 108 Modifications of statement of corporate intent 

This clause replicates the existing section 59 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides for the modification of a statement of
corporate intent by the board with the agreement of the Minister or
by the direction of the Minister.  Before the Minister exercises the
power to direct the board to modify a statement of corporate intent,
the Minister is required to consult with the board and take its views
into account.  Any direction given by the Minister must then be
tabled before both Houses of Parliament within 14 days of being
given or dealt with in accordance with clause 137 (when a House of
Parliament is not sitting).  

By clause 109, the Minister's powers are subject to the concurrence
of the Treasurer.  

Clause 109 Concurrence of Treasurer

This clause replicates the existing section 60 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

The Minister's powers under clauses 107 and 108 with respect to
agreement and modification of a statement of corporate intent are
subject to the concurrence of the Treasurer.  

 Division 3 - Quarterly and annual reports

Clause 110 Quarterly reports

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 61 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause requires each of the successor Western Power entities
to provide the Minister with a separate report (prepared on a
consolidated basis) on the operations of each successor entity and
of each subsidiary for each of the first three quarters of a financial
year.  The successor entity is also required to give a copy of each
of these quarterly reports to the Treasurer.  A quarterly report must
be given to the Minister within one month after the end of the
quarter or as otherwise agreed between the Minister and the board
concerned.  
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The clause requires that a quarterly report is to be prepared for any
segment of the successor entity prescribed by regulations made for
the purposes of clause 64.  As indicated previously, it is envisaged
that regulations will be made under clause 64 which provide for
accounting separation for the district business units within the
successor Western Power entities (eg. Electricity Networks
Corporation's two business units, being Network Management and
System Management). 

The clause also provides that a quarterly report must include the
information required to be given in the report by the successor
entity's statement of corporate intent, and must comply with
regulations made for the purposes of clause 64.  After consultation
with the board of the successor entity concerned, the Minister is
required to make a quarterly report available to the public.  This is,
however, subject to clause 113 which makes provision for the
deletion of commercially sensitive information from a quarterly
report.  

Clause 111 Annual reports 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 62 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause requires each of the successor Western Power entities
to provide the Minister each year with separate annual reports on
the operations of the successor entity and of each subsidiary.  The
annual report of the successor entity is to be prepared on a
consolidated basis and in accordance with clauses 32 and 33 of
Schedule 5 (which impose obligations in relation to reporting to the
Minister), as well as for any segment of the successor entity
prescribed by regulations for the purposes of clause 64.  The
annual reports for any subsidiary must also be prepared in
accordance with clauses 32 and 33 of Schedule 5.  

The annual report of a successor entity must be tabled in
Parliament or otherwise dealt with according to clause 137 (when a
House of Parliament is not sitting) within 21 days of the Minister
receiving it.  There is no such requirement for the annual report of a
subsidiary.  

Clause 112 Contents of annual reports

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 63 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause describes the matters which must be included in an
annual report of a successor Western Power entity or a subsidiary.
Broadly, these include:

• sufficient information to enable to the Minister to make an
informed assessment of the operations of the successor entity
or a subsidiary; 
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• a comparison of the performance of a successor entity or
subsidiary with its statement of corporate intent;

• particulars of all directions given during the financial year (or
which were materially relevant during the year) by the Minister
in respect of the successor entity or subsidiary; and 

• particulars of the impact upon the financial position, profits,
losses and prospects of a successor entity or a subsidiary of
any modifications to the statement of corporate intent or
directions given by the Minister under clause 115(1) (being
directions given by the Minister to a successor entity generally
with respect to the performance of its functions) given during
the relevant financial year.  

The annual report must also include a summary of the report which
is required to be given under clause 32 (being a report in relation to
the compliance with a code of conduct by the staff of the successor
entity).  

The requirements imposed by this clause with respect to annual
reports are equivalent to those currently imposed by section 63 of
the Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

Clause 113 Deletion of commercially sensitive matters from reports

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 64 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

The clause makes provision for the board to request that the
Minister delete any commercially sensitive information from a
quarterly or annual report, and the Minister may comply with such a
request.  Where information is deleted, the copy of the report from
which it has been deleted must contain a statement that information
has been deleted  pursuant to this clause.  The intent of this clause
is to ensure that a successor Western Power entity is not
detrimentally affected in its ability to compete in a competitive
commercial environment by the release of its commercial
information.  

 Division 4 - Ministerial directions, general provisions

Clause 114 Directions to corporation 

This clause replicates the existing section 65 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994. 
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This clause provides that a successor Western Power entity is not
required to comply with any administrative request or direction
given by or on behalf of Government except as set out in the Bill or
as required under any written law.  This clause is consistent with
the fact that the successor Western Power entities are not agents of
the Crown and that each entity is to act at its own discretion in
accordance with prudent commercial principles.

The clause also protects a successor entity from being unduly
burdened by unnecessary or excessive directions and requests for
information from other Government agencies 

Clause 115 Minister may give directions 

This clause represents a departure from the existing section 66 of
the Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

The clause empowers the Minister to give directions to a successor
Western Power entity with respect to the performance of its
functions generally or on a particular matter.  The successor entity
is required to comply with a direction, subject to clause 116 (when
the board determines that compliance with that direction would be
contrary to its commercial interest).  Where the Minister gives a
direction under this clause, the direction must be tabled before each
House of Parliament or otherwise dealt with in accordance with
clause 137 (when a House of Parliament is not sitting).  

The Minister cannot give a direction to the System Management
division of the Electricity Networks Corporation in relation to its
functions concerning the wholesale electricity market.

Clause 116 Directions contrary to commercial interest 

This clause replicates the existing section 67 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause makes provision for the situation where the board of a
successor Western Power entity forms the view that a direction
given by the Minister to the successor entity under clause 115 is
contrary to the  successor entity's commercial interests.  The clause
provides that where the board of a successor entity determines that
it would be inconsistent with clause 63(1) of the Bill (which requires
the successor entity to act on commercial principles) to comply with
the direction or that there is some other reason why its should not
comply with it, the board must notify the Minister of its
determination within 7 days of the direction being given.  Upon
receiving such notice, the Minister must consult with the Treasurer
and either cancel or confirm the direction.  The successor entity is
not required to comply with the direction until such time as it is
confirmed by the Minister.  
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Clause 117 When directions take effect 

This clause replicates the existing section 68 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994. 

This clause provides that a Ministerial direction under clause 115
becomes effective 7 days after it has been given (or such other
longer period determined by the Minister), or, where it is the subject
of a notice under clause 116, upon being confirmed by the Minister.
The clause makes provision for the period of 7 days to be extended
by the Minister upon the request of the board.  Where the board
makes a request for an extension, the Minister must consider the
board's request before the expiration of the 7 day period.  

 Division 5 - Consultation and provision of information

Clause 118 Consultation 

This clause replicates the existing section 69 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides that the board of a successor Western Power
entity and the Minister (or their representatives) must consult at the
request of either of them in respect of any aspect of the  successor
entity's operations.  

Clause 119 Minister to have access to information 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 70 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides that the Minister is entitled to have access to,
and to make and retain copies of, information in the possession of a
successor Western Power entity and any subsidiary.  The Minister
is entitled to request the CEO or the board of the successor entity
to provide or give access to information within a specified time
frame, and may make use of the staff of the successor entity or a
subsidiary for the purposes of obtaining the required information.
The CEO or the board is required to comply with such a request,
and must at the time the information is provided to the Minister or
the Minister is given access to the information, advise the Minister
whether (in the opinion of the CEO or the board) the public
disclosure of the information would adversely affect the commercial
interests of the successor entity or any subsidiary.  

The terms "document" and "information" are defined for the
purposes of the clause.  
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Clause 120 Provision of information in compiled form 

There is no equivalent provision to this clause in the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause empowers the Minister to require the CEO or the board
of a successor Western Power entity to create a new document
which contains information:

• of a specified description; 

• presented in a specified way; 

• relating to a specified period; or

• having some other specified characteristic,

where the Minister wishes to obtain information that is not itself in
the possession of the successor entity or a subsidiary, but which is
capable of being assembled or compiled from information in the
possession of the successor entity or subsidiary. 

The CEO or board of a successor Western Power entity must
comply with a request, and take whatever steps are necessary to
enable the request to be complied with.  The Minister is entitled to
make copies of the document prepared.  At the time the document
is provided to the Minister the CEO or board must advise the
Minister whether (in the opinion of the CEO or the board) the public
disclosure of the information would adversely affect the commercial
interests of the successor entity or any subsidiary.

This clause is intended to ensure that the Minister is able to obtain
the information necessary for the Minister to be fully appraised of
the activities of the successor Western Power entities.  

Clause 121 Minister to be kept informed 

This clause replicates the existing section 71 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause requires a successor Western Power entity to keep the
Minister reasonably informed of the operations, financial
performance and financial position of the successor Western Power
entity and its subsidiaries, and must provide the Minister with the
reports and information which the Minister requires to make
informed assessments regarding those matters.  

The clause also imposes an obligation upon the board of a
successor Western Power entity to promptly inform the Minister if
the board becomes aware of matters which are likely to affect the
achievement of the successor entity's objectives outlined in its
statement of corporate intent or its targets set out in its strategic
development plan.  
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Clause 122 Notice of financial difficulty 

This clause replicates the existing section 72 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This clause provides that the board of a successor Western Power
entity must notify the Minister if the board forms the view that the
successor entity or a subsidiary is or may be unable to satisfy any
financial obligation of the successor entity or subsidiary (as the
case may be) from the financial resources available or likely to be
available to the successor entity or the subsidiary at the time the
obligation is due.  The notice must be in writing, setting out the
basis of the board's view and any other information which may be
relevant.  

The Minister must, within 7 days of being given the notice, confer
with the Treasurer and the board to determine what action is
necessary to enable the financial obligation to be satisfied and
initiate such action to ensure that the financial obligation is in fact
met when due.  The clause empowers the Minister to give a
direction to the successor entity for the purpose of ensuring that the
financial obligation can be met, including a direction to cease
performing certain of its functions.  The board must give effect to,
and ensure compliance by a subsidiary with, any direction given.  

A direction given by the Minister under this clause must be tabled in
each House of Parliament or be dealt with according to clause 137
(when a House of Parliament is not sitting) within 14 days of the
direction being given. 

 Division 6 - Protection from liability 

Clause 123 No liability for certain acts or omissions 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 73 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides an exclusion of liability for a successor
Western Power entity, a subsidiary of a successor entity, or a
person performing functions under the Bill.  The clause provides
that a successor entity, a subsidiary of a successor entity or a
person performing functions under the Bill is not liable: 

• in respect of claims arising as a consequence of the disclosure
of information or documents under clause 110, 111, 118, 119,
120, 121 or 122 or clause 3 or 5 of Schedule 4 or clauses 4 or
6 in each of Schedules 5 and 6 of the Electricity Transmission
and Distribution Systems (Access) Act 1994; and

• for having done or omitted to do anything required to be done
by a direction given under clause 96(3), 99(2), 105(3), 108(2),
115(1), 122(4) or 129(3).  
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 Part 6 - Financial provisions 
 Division 1 - General 

Clause 124 Bank account 

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 75 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994, although the term "bank" is now
defined by reference to the definition of that term in the Financial
Administration and Audit Act 1985.  

This clause provides that a successor Western Power entity may
have an account or accounts at any bank or banks, and for money
received, and expenditure made, by the successor entity to be paid
to or from the account.  

Clause 125 Investment

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 76 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994. 

This clause empowers the board of a successor Western Power
entity to invest funds of that successor entity which are not being
used for the performance of the  successor entity's functions. 

Clause 126 Exemption from rates

This clause is equivalent in effect to section 77 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that land vested in or under the control and
management of a successor Western Power entity and which is
used or reserved exclusively for the purposes of providing works,
facilities and undertakings necessary for the performance of the
successor entity's functions is not rateable land for the purposes of
the Local Government Act 1995.  The effect of this provision is that
a successor entity will be exempt from local government rates for
this land.  

 Division 2 - Payments to State 

Clause 127 Payment of amount in lieu of rates

This clause replicates the existing section 78 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994. 

This clause provides that a successor Western Power entity must
pay to the Treasurer an amount equivalent to any local government
rate or charge which the successor entity would have been liable to
pay but for clause 126.
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Clause 128 Determination of amounts under section 127

This clause replicates the existing section 80 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the Treasurer to direct the principles
according to which amounts payable under clause 127 are
determined and the timing of payment.  

Clause 129 Dividend

This clause replicates the existing section 81 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause sets out the circumstances in which dividends are
payable by a successor Western Power entity for a financial year
and the manner of calculation of dividends.  As soon as practicable
following the end of each financial year, the board of a successor
entity is required to make a recommendation to the Minister as to
the amount of the dividend (if any) which the board considers
appropriate for the successor entity to pay in respect of a financial
year.  The dividend is to be calculated with respect to the net profits
of the successor entity for a financial year after taking into account
any amounts payable by the successor entity to the Treasurer
under clause 127 and the State Enterprises (Commonwealth Tax
Equivalents Act) 1996. 

The Minister, with the concurrence of the Treasurer, may then
either accept the recommendation or, after consultation with the
board, direct that some other amount is to be paid.  The successor
entity must then pay the dividend as soon as practicable after the
amount has been fixed, and in any event not later than 6 months
after the end of the relevant financial year (or such other time
agreed by the Treasurer and the board).  

Where the Minister has not accepted the recommendation of the
board and has instead directed the payment of some other amount,
the Minister's direction must be laid before each House of
Parliament or otherwise dealt with according to clause 137 (when a
House of Parliament is not sitting) within 14 days of the direction
being given.  

 Division 3 - Borrowing 

Clause 130 Borrowing

This clause replicates the existing section 82 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994. 
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This clause sets out the powers that each of the successor Western
Power entities have with respect to the borrowing of money.  A
successor entity has the power to borrow or re-borrow, obtain
credit, issue, acquire, hold or dispose of debt paper (as defined in
the clause), create and issue capital instruments or otherwise
arrange for financial accommodation to be extended to the
successor entity.  Capital instruments may be created and issued
on terms determined by the successor entity and approved by the
Minister.  

Clause 131 Borrowing limits

This clause replicates the existing section 83 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the Treasurer to impose limits on the
borrowing of a successor Western Power entity for each financial
year.  The limit contemplated by this clause is a monetary limit and
can be varied.  Whilst the successor entity is required to comply
with the limit imposed, a person dealing with the successor entity is
not required to enquire whether the successor entity has complied
or is complying with the limit, and a transaction will not be
unenforceable merely by virtue of the fact that it has been entered
into in contravention of the limit imposed.  

Clause 132 Hedging transactions 

This clause replicates the existing section 84 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause empowers a successor Western Power entity to enter
into a broad variety of hedging transactions in connection with the
exercise of any its borrowing powers conferred by clause 130.  The
types of hedging transactions which the successor entity may enter
into include:

• foreign exchange transactions; 

• currency swaps;

• foreign currency cap, collar or floor;

• forward interest rate agreement or an interest rate swap;

• interest rate cap, collar or floor; and

• futures contract or option.  
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The successor entity can enter into any other class of hedging
transaction with the approval of the Treasurer.  The successor
entity can also enter into an arrangement to effect a transaction
which is a combination of two or more of the permitted hedging
transactions or one or more of the permitted hedging transactions in
combination with one or more transactions permitted under clause
130.  

 Division 4 - Guarantees

Clause 133 Guarantees

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 85 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

The clause provides that the Treasurer may, with the concurrence
of the Minister, guarantee any financial obligation of a successor
Western Power entity arising as a result of the exercise of the
borrowing power contained in clause 130 of the Bill or to which it
becomes subject under Part 3 of the Energy Corporations
(Amendments and Transitional Provisions) Bill 2003 (that is,
Western Power guarantees transferred to a successor Western
Power entity pursuant to a transfer order made under that Bill).  The
payment of any money under a guarantee is to be made by the
Treasurer from the Consolidated Fund, and any amounts recovered
from the successor entity in respect of payment under a guarantee
must be credited to the Consolidated Fund.  

Clause 134 Charges for guarantee

This clause replicates the existing section 86 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the Treasurer to fix a charge to be paid by
a successor Western Power entity to the Consolidated Fund for the
provision of a guarantee under clause 133.  The Treasurer can also
fix the time and manner of payment of the charge.  

 Division 5 - Financial administration and audit

Clause 135 Limited application of Financial Administration and Audit Act
1985 

This clause replicates the existing section 87 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause excludes the application of the Financial Administration
and Audit Act 1985 (other than sections 78-80, 82-92 and 95 of that
Act) to a successor Western Power entity or any person performing
any functions under the Bill.  The clause preserves the operation of
certain sections of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985
which make the Auditor General responsible for the audit of a
successor entity's accounts.  
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Clause 136 Financial administration and audit 

The clause essentially replicates the existing section 88 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for Schedule 5 to have effect in relation to the
financial administration and audit of the  successor Western Power
entities.  Schedule 5 is modelled on the provisions of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) with respect to financial administration
and audit.

The clause provides for the amendment of Schedule 5 by
regulations made by the Governor (with the concurrence of the
Treasurer) in accordance with subclauses (3) and (4).  Subclause
(3) provides that where:

• a provision of Schedule 5 that sets out the substance of a
provision of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) does not
accurately reflect the corresponding provision of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) as in force for the time being; or 

• the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) does not contain an equivalent
provision to a provision of Schedule 5; or

• the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) contains a provision relating to
a matter provided for by Schedule 5 and Schedule 5 does not
contain an equivalent provision, 

the Minister may recommend that the Governor make regulations to
amend the Schedule accordingly. 

These requirements are intended to facilitate the maintenance of
consistency between the financial administration and audit
requirements applicable to successor Western Power entities under
the Bill and the financial administration and audit provisions
generally applying under the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
Subclause (4) furthers this objective, by providing that any
amending regulations must operate to ensure that Schedule 5 is
substantially the same as the corresponding provisions of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), subject to any modifications
consistent with the policy of the Bill.  
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 Part 7 - Miscella neous
Clause 137 Supplementary provision for laying document before

Parliament 

This clause replicates the existing section 96 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides that if, during a period when a document must
be laid before a House of Parliament, the House is not sitting, the
Minister must instead transmit a copy of the document to be laid to
the Clerk of the House.  The copy transmitted to the Clerk of the
House is taken to have been laid before the House for the purposes
of the Bill, and to be a document published by order or under the
authority of that House.  The laying of the copy of the document is
to be recorded in the Minutes, or Votes and Proceedings, of the
House on the first sitting day after it was provided to the Clerk of the
House.  

Clause 138 Execution of documents

This clause replicates the existing section 97 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause sets out the manner of execution of documents by a
successor Western Power entity.  A document is taken to be duly
executed by a successor entity if the common seal of the successor
entity is affixed in the presence of two directors or a director and an
executive officer, or is signed on behalf of the successor entity by a
person authorised to execute documents on behalf of the successor
entity.  

Subclause (4) enables the successor entity, by writing under its
common seal, to authorise a director, member of staff or other
agent of the successor entity to execute documents on its behalf.
Subclause (5) provides for an authorisation given under subclause
(4) to be given generally or in respect of limited matters and so as
to authorise 2 or more persons to execute documents jointly.
Subclause (5) also provides that an authority may be presumed by
a person dealing with a successor entity to continue during any
period for which it is conferred or (if no duration has been imposed)
until notice of termination of the authority is given to the person
dealing with the successor entity.  

Clause 139 Contract formalities 

This clause replicates the existing section 98 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  
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This clause provides that a person with the authority of a successor
Western Power entity may make, vary or discharge a contract for
and on behalf of that successor entity and in the name of that
successor entity. 

Clause 140 Delegation by Treasurer

This clause essentially replicates the existing section 99 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the Treasurer to delegate, by instrument in
writing, any of his powers or duties under the Bill to a Treasury
officer (being an officer of the Department that principally assists
the Minister administering the Financial Administration and Audit
Act 1985 in administering that Act).  The power can not be sub-
delegated.  

Clause 141 Regulations

This clause replicates the existing section 100 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This clause provides for the making of regulations by the Governor
prescribing all matters necessary or convenient to be prescribed for
the purposes of the Bill.  Regulations made under the provisions of
the Electricity Act 1945 are to prevail over regulations made under
the Bill in the event of any inconsistency.  
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Schedule 1  - Provisio ns about the constitution and
proceedings of boards

This Schedule essentially replicates the existing Schedule 1 to the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.  

This Schedule contains provisions relating to the board of a
successor Western Power entity.  The terms of the Schedule are
similar to the Schedules which appear in Acts establishing and
governing other statutory corporations, such as the Water
Corporation. The Schedule contains the following provisions: 

Clause 1 Definition 

This clause provides that in clauses 2, 3, 4 and 5(1) of Schedule 1,
a reference to the term director does not, if the chief executive
officer is also a director, include a reference to him or her in that
capacity.  

Clause 2 Term of office

This clause provides that subject to removal or resignation, a
director of a successor Western Power entity holds office for up to 3
years and is eligible for reappointment at the end of that term.  The
periods of appointment are to be fixed so that approximately one
third of the directors retire each year.  Director’s duties are not
required to be performed on a full time basis, and subject to
resignation or removal, a director is to continue in office until a
successor is appointed, notwithstanding that the period for which
the director was appointed has expired.  

Clause 3 Resignation and removal 

This clause provides for the resignation of office by a director and
the removal of a director by the Governor.  The Governor may
remove a director at any time and is not required to give reasons for
doing so.  

Clause 4 Chairperson and deputy chairperson 

This clause requires the Governor to appoint a director as
chairperson and deputy chairperson on the nomination of the
Minister.  If the chief executive officer is also a director, he or she is
not eligible to be appointed as chairperson or deputy chairperson.  

The deputy chairperson is required to act in the place of the
chairperson where the chairperson is unable to act for whatever
reason.  
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Clause 5 Alternate directors 

This clause provides for the appointment of alternate directors if a
director is unable to act, and sets out the alternate director’s
entitlement to remuneration.  Acts or omissions of an alternative
director can not be questioned on the basis that the occasion for
the appointment as alternate director has not arisen or has ceased.  

Clause 6 Meetings 

This clause sets out the manner in which meetings of the board are
to be convened and conducted.  The clause provides for the first
meeting of the board to be convened by the chairperson and for
subsequent meetings to be held at such times and places as the
board determines.  Any three directors constitute a quorum for a
meeting of directors.  In the case of equality of voting, the person
presiding at the meeting has a casting vote in addition to his or her
deliberative vote.  

Clause 7 Telephone and video meetings 

This clause provides that directors' meetings may be constituted by
telephone or audio visual means but only if each participating
director is capable of communicating with every other participating
director at all times during those proceedings.  

Clause 8 Resolution may be passed without meeting 

This clause provides that if a document stating that an act, matter
or thing has been done or that a resolution has been passed is sent
to all directors and is assented to by not less than three of those
directors, then that act or matter or thing or resolution is deemed to
have been done at or passed at a meeting of the board of a
successor Western Power entity.  The meeting is taken to have
been held on the day and at the time the document was last
assented to by a director.  A director may signify his or her assent
to a document by signing it or by otherwise notifying the successor
entity of his or her assent (whether in person or some other form of
written, electronic, audio or audiovisual communication).  

Clause 9 Minutes and records

This clause requires the board to keep accurate records of the
proceedings of each board meeting and each resolution passed.  

Clause 10 Leave of absence

This clause empowers the board to grant to a director a leave of
absence from a meeting.  
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Clause 11 Board to determine own procedures

This clause provides that the board of a successor Western Power
entity is to determine its own procedures, subject to any
requirements of the Bill. 
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Schedule 2 – Provisio ns about the duties of directors and
related provisions 

This Schedule essentially replicates the existing Schedule 2 of the
Electricity Corporation Act 1994.

This Schedule contains a number of provisions imposing duties
upon directors in the performance of their functions under the Bill,
and provisions relating to liability.  The duties imposed upon
directors are based upon, but are not identical to, those imposed
upon directors by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), which now
creates an important distinction between those duties which have
civil consequences and those which have criminal consequences,
when breached.

 Division 1 - Preliminary 

Clause 1 Interpretation 

This clause provides a definition of the term “summary conviction
penalty”.  It also provides that a person who attempts (within the
meaning of section 4 of the Criminal Code) to commit an offence
against a provision of the Schedule is guilty of that offence.  

 Division 2 - Certain duties stated 

Clause 2 Duty to act honestly 

This clause imposes a duty upon a director of a successor Western
Power entity to act honestly at all times in the performance of the
functions of his or her office.  Alternative penalties are provided for
a breach of the duty, depending upon whether the director acted
with fraudulent intent.  A breach of the duty with intent to deceive or
defraud the successor entity or its creditors or for some other
fraudulent purpose constitutes a crime, and as such can render a
person liable to imprisonment.  No equivalent duty is imposed upon
directors by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  

Clause 3 Duty to exercise reasonable care and diligence 

This clause imposes an obligation on a director of a successor
Western Power entity to exercise reasonable care and diligence in
the performance of his or her duties.  The degree of care and
diligence which is required is that which a reasonable person in the
same position would be expected to exercise.  An equivalent duty is
imposed upon directors by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
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Clause 4 Duty not to make improper use of information 

This clause provides that a director must not make improper use of
information acquired by virtue of their position as director for the
purposes of personal gain or to gain an advantage for some other
person, or to the detriment of successor Western Power entity.  A
contravention of the duty constitutes a crime.  The clause imposes
a penalty for breach of the duty, which can include a fine and a
period of imprisonment (or both).  An equivalent duty is imposed
upon directors by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Clause 5 Duty not to make improper use of position 

This clause imposes a duty upon a director not to make improper
use of their position for their personal gain or to gain an advantage
for some other person or to the detriment of the successor Western
Power entity.  A breach of the duty constitutes a crime for which a
penalty of a fine and/or a period of imprisonment can be imposed.
An equivalent duty is imposed upon directors by the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth).

Clause 6 Fiduciary duty 

This clause provides that a director of a successor Western Power
entity has the same fiduciary relationship with a successor entity
and the same duties to the successor entity to act with loyalty and
in good faith as a director of a company incorporated under the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  These duties are only enforceable by
the Minister.  

 Division 3 - Recovery from director 

Clause 7 Payment of compensation may be ordered 

This clause provides that a person convicted of an offence in
contravention of clauses 2, 3, 4 or 5 of Schedule 2 may be required
to pay compensation in addition to receiving a penalty if a court is
satisfied that the successor Western Power entity has suffered loss
or damage as a result of the commission of the offence.  

An equivalent provision to this clause is contained in the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Clause 8 Civil proceedings for recovery from director

This provision provides that a successor Western Power entity may
commence civil proceedings against a person who has contravened
clause 2, 3, 4 or 5 of Schedule 2 (irrespective of whether the person
has been convicted of an offence against that clause) to recover
from that person an amount equal to any profit which the person
made as result of the contravention and an amount equivalent to
any loss or damage suffered by the successor entity as a result of
the contravention.  
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An equivalent provision to this clause is contained in the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

 Division 4 - Relief from liability 

Clause 9 Court may grant relief 

This clause sets out the circumstances in which a court may relieve
a person from liability under clauses 6, 7 or 8.  Where the court
forms the view that a person who has breached one of the relevant
clauses acted with honesty and ought fairly be excused from liability
having regard to all the circumstances, the court may relieve the
person either wholly or partly from any liability on such terms and
conditions as it thinks fit.  

Clause 10 Application for relief 

This clause empowers a person who believes that an action may be
brought against him or her under clause 6, 7 or 8 to apply to the
Supreme Court for relief from liability.  The Supreme Court has the
same power to deal with such an application as the court exercising
appropriate jurisdiction has by virtue of clause 9.  

Clause 11 Case may be withdrawn from jury 

This clause provides that a judge has the power to withdraw a claim
to which clause 9 applies and which is being tried by judge and jury
from the jury where the judge is satisfied that the person is entitled
to relief in whole or part from liability.  

An equivalent provision to this clause is contained in the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

 Division 5 - Personal interests of directors, disclosure and voting 

Clause 12 Disclosure 

This clause imposes a duty upon a director who has a notifiable
interest in a matter involving the successor Western Power entity to
disclose the nature of the interest at a meeting of the board as soon
as possible after the relevant facts have come to light.  The
disclosure must then be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
The term “notifiable interest” is defined in the clause to mean an
interest in a matter that will (under clause 13(1) of Schedule 2)
disqualify the director from voting on the matter at a meeting of the
board unless allowed to do so by resolution under clause 13(3) or
declaration under clause 13(6).  

A breach of the duty carries a financial penalty.  
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Clause 13 Voting by interested directors 

Subclause (1) of this clause provides that where a director has a
material personal interest in a matter that is being considered by
the board of the successor Western Power entity, the director must
not vote on the matter or be present when the matter is considered.  

Subclause (2) specifies that a director does not have a personal
interest in a matter relating to a contract of insurance merely
because the contract would insure that director against liability
incurred in the performance of his or her functions as director.  

Subclause (3) excludes the operation of subclause (1) where the
board has passed a resolution that specifies the director, the
interest and the matter and states that the directors voting for the
resolution are satisfied that the interest should not disqualify the
director from considering and voting on the matter.  

Subclause (4) provides an exception to the rules relating to quorum
set out in clause 6(5) of Schedule 1 where a director has been
disqualified under subclause (1).  The clause provides that a
quorum is present during consideration of a matter if at least 2
directors are present who are entitled to vote on any motion that
may be moved at the meeting in relation to the matter.  Subclause
(5) then empowers the Minister to deal with a matter where a board
is unable to do so because of subclause (4).  

Subclause (6) empowers the Minister to declare that subclauses (1)
and (4) do not apply in respect of a specified matter either generally
or in voting on resolutions.  By subclause (7), where the Minister
makes such a declaration, the declaration must be laid before both
Houses of Parliament, or otherwise dealt with according to clause
137, within 14 days of having been made.  

 Division 6 - Other prohibited conduct 

Clause 14 Prohibition on loans to directors and related persons 

The clause prohibits the making of loans or giving of a guarantee or
other security in connection with a loan to a director, a spouse or
defacto of a director or a relative of a director or spouse or defacto
of a director.  A director who is knowingly involved in the
contravention of this prohibition with intent to defraud commits a
crime and is liable to a penalty of a fine and/or imprisonment.  Any
other breach of the prohibition carries a financial penalty only.  
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Clause 15 Directors and auditors not to be indemnified for certain
matters

This clause creates a general prohibition of the giving of
indemnities or exemptions from liability by a successor Western
Power entity or a subsidiary to a person who is or has been a
director or auditor of the successor entity and who has incurred a
liability in that capacity.  The clause then sets out a number of
exceptions to this general prohibition.  Subclause (3) provides that
a person can be indemnified against a civil liability to a person other
than a successor entity or subsidiary, provided that the liability did
not arise out of conduct involving a lack of good faith.  Subclause
(4) provides that a person may be indemnified against a liability for
costs and expenses incurred by the person in defending civil or
criminal proceedings in which he or she is acquitted or judgment is
given in his or her favour.  

Subclause (5) provides that a successor entity or a subsidiary must
not pay a premium in respect of a contract which insures a person
who is or has been a director or auditor of the successor entity from
liability incurred by the person in that capacity and arising out of
conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or a contravention of
clause 4 or 5 of this Schedule.  Any contract entered into for this
purpose is deemed by subclause (7) to be void to the extent to
which it contravenes subclause (5).  This is subject to subclause
(8), which provides that subclauses (5) and (7) do not apply to a
liability for costs incurred by a person in defending civil or criminal
proceedings, whatever their outcome.  

Clause 16 False or misleading information 

This clause imposes a duty on a director of a successor Western
Power entity not to furnish information or permit the furnishing of
information to the Treasurer, the Minister or a director, auditor,
debenture holder or trustee for debenture holders of the successor
entity which relates to the successor entity and which he or she
knows to be false or misleading in a material particular or which has
omitted from it a matter which renders the information misleading in
a material respect.  A breach of this duty renders a person liable to
a penalty of a fine and/or imprisonment.  

Subclause (2) has the effect of imposing a duty on a director to take
reasonable steps to ensure that any information which he or she
has provided to the Treasurer, the Minister or a director, auditor,
debenture holder or trustee for debenture holders of the successor
entity which relates to the successor entity is not false or misleading
in a material particular and does not have omitted from it matter
which makes it misleading in a material particular.  A penalty of a
fine and/or a term of imprisonment is provided for a breach of this
obligation.  
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Where information is made available to the Treasurer, the Minister
or a director, auditor, debenture holder or trustee for debenture
holders of the successor entity in response to a question, the
question and the information provided are to be considered
together in determining whether the information was false or
misleading.  
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Schedule 3 - Provisio ns to be included in constitution of
subsidiary 

This Schedule replicates the existing Schedule 4 of the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.  

This Schedule sets out the provisions which must be included in the
constitution of a subsidiary of a successor Western Power entity. 

Clause 1 Disposal of shares 

This clause prohibits a successor Western Power entity from selling
or disposing of shares in a subsidiary (as that term is defined in the
Bill) without the approval of the Minister.  Subclause (2) provides
that the Minister is empowered to execute a transfer of any shares
in a subsidiary held by the successor entity.  

Clause 2 Directors 

This clause provides that the directors of the subsidiary are to be
appointed by the successor Western Power entity concerned, but
only with the prior written approval of the Minister.  Decisions
relating to the subsidiary are to be made by the board of the
subsidiary and in accordance with the statement of corporate intent
of the relevant successor entity and the subsidiary.  The board of a
subsidiary is accountable to the Minister in the manner set out in
Part 5 of the Bill and in accordance with its constitution.  

Clause 3 Further shares 

This clause prohibits the issue or transfer of shares in a subsidiary
without the prior written approval of the Minister.  

Clause 4 Subsidiaries of subsidiary 

This clause provides that a subsidiary must not form or acquire any
subsidiary without the prior written approval of the Minister and the
concurrence of the Treasurer.  The subsidiary must ensure that the
constitution of each of its subsidiaries complies with the Bill, and, to
the maximum extent possible, that the subsidiary complies with its
constitution and the Bill.  
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Schedule 4 – Procure ment of new generation 

This Schedule is essentially equivalent to the existing Schedule 7 of
the Electricity Corporation Act 1994. As explained in relation to
clause 90 of the Bill, it is to have a temporary operation, effectively
until the rules establishing the framework for the wholesale
electricity market are in place.

This Schedule applies to both the Electricity Networks Corporation
and the Electricity Generation Corporation to varying extents.  It
sets out the obligations of the Electricity Networks Corporation with
respect to the provision of information (which will be undertaken by
the System Management division), and the obligations of the
Electricity Generation Corporation with respect to the conduct of a
competitive procurement process for substantial new generation
and minimising electricity costs and the disclosure of any electricity
procurement process, in relation to new generations for the South
West interconnected system.  

Clause 1 Meaning of “the corporation”

This clause sets out the scope of the application of this Schedule,
by providing that the term “the corporation” in clause 3 is to be
taken to mean the Electricity Networks Corporation, and otherwise
is to be taken to mean the Electricity Generation Corporation.  

Clause 2 Other definitions 

This clause sets out the definitions necessary for the operation of
this Schedule.  The defined terms are “load characteristics”, “new
generation”, “substantial new generation” and “total installed
capacity”.  

Clause 3 Obligation to provide information

This clause provides that Electricity Networks Corporation must, not
later than the prescribed day in each year, prepare forecasts
covering a minimum forecast period of 10 years and reports which
give sufficient information to enable interested parties to make
proposals in respect of, and to participate in, any procurement
process by Electricity Networks Corporation for new generation.
“New generation” is defined in clause 2 as "any new or additional
electricity supply or generation.” 

Subclause (2) sets out the matters which must be addressed in a
forecast.  The list of matters provided is not exhaustive.  The
matters which must be addressed are:

• electricity demand on the South West interconnected system in
terms of capacity and energy; 
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• analyses of the load characteristics of the South West
interconnected system; 

• any potential discrepancy between electricity demand and
electricity supply on the South West interconnected system;
and

• possible solutions to remedy any such potential discrepancy.  

Subclause (3) sets out a non-exhaustive list of matters which must
be addressed in a report.  Broadly, these are as follows: 

• the Electricity Retail Corporation’s commitments to purchase
electricity (in terms of both capacity and energy); 

• the Electricity Generation Corporation’s current inventories of,
and commitments to purchase, fuel for electricity generation;
and

• reasonable details of the Electricity Generation Corporation’s
generating plant.

The Electricity Networks Corporation is required to provide copies
of a forecast or report to any person, and may charge the
prescribed fee for doing so.  

Subclause (5) requires the Electricity Retail Corporation and the
Electricity Generation Corporation to provide such information to
the Electricity Networks Corporation as it may request to enable it
to prepare reports under subclause (3).

Clause 4 Obligation to conduct a competitive procurement process for
substantial new generation and to minimise electricity costs

This clause requires the Electricity Generation Corporation to
procure any substantial new generation through a
non-discriminatory and open procurement process.  The Electricity
Generation Corporation can only procure substantial new
generation with the approval of the Minister.  

Subclause (2) sets out the principles which the Electricity
Generation Corporation must follow in procuring new generation.
The Electricity Generation Corporation must: 

• when it procures any new generation, seek to minimise the
cost of electricity generation, subject to maintaining the
reliability and safety of the South West interconnected system; 

• ensure that all proposals for new generation receive fair and
equitable consideration; 
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• ensure that, if Electricity Generation Corporation participates as
a prospective supplier or generator in a procurement process, it
is treated equally with and no more favourably than, all other
prospective suppliers or generators; and

• consider the effects which each proposal for new generation
will have on the utilisation and operation of the South West
interconnected system and upon the  Electricity Generation
Corporation’s existing contracts for the sale and purchase of
electricity.  

This provision is different to the equivalent provision in Schedule 7
to the existing Electricity Corporation Act 1994 because it is
directed to the cost of generation rather than of delivered energy.
As a generator, the Electricity Generation Corporation cannot
control the delivered cost of electricity.  

Clause 5 Obligation to disclose electricity procurement process

This clause provides that the Electricity Generation Corporation
must prepare and make publicly available a description of the
process to be adopted in the procurement of any particular
substantial new generation.  The Electricity Generation Corporation
is required to provide a copy of that description to any person upon
the payment of the prescribed fee.  
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Schedule 5 - Financia l administration and audit

This Schedule replicates the existing Schedule 3 to the Electricity
Corporation Act 1994.

This Schedule contains provisions in respect of the financial
administration and audit obligations of each of the successor
Western Power entities.  It is intended to reflect the financial
administration and audit obligations which are ordinarily imposed
upon corporations by the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  The effect
of this is that each of the successor entities will operate under
financial administration and audit procedures essentially equivalent
to those under which non-statutory corporations operate.  Each
clause heading in Schedule 5 includes a reference to the
comparable provision of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) which the
clause is intended to implement.  This parity with the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth) is recognised in clause 136 of the Bill, which
facilitates the making of changes to Schedule 5 to mirror any
changes which are made to the relevant provisions of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  These changes may be effected by
regulations made by the Governor on the recommendation of the
Minister.  

 Division 1 - Preliminary 

Clause 1 Interpretation 

This clause contains the definitions necessary for the operation of
the Schedule.  The clause provides for the definitions of
“accounting standard”, “company”, “financial records”, “financial
year” and “regulations”. 

 Division 2 - Financial records 

Clause 2 Obligation to keep financial records  

This clause imposes an obligation upon a successor Western
Power entity to keep financial records and to retain these records
for 7 years after the transaction covered by the record is complete.
This clause is equivalent to section 286 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).   

Clause 3 Physical format

This clause describes the physical format which financial records
must take.  This clause is equivalent to section 288 of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
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Clause 4 Place where records are kept

This clause provides that the successor Western Power entity may
decide where financial records are kept and must give the
Treasurer written notice of the place where the records are kept.
The records can be kept outside Australia but if so, sufficient
information about those records must be kept in Australia to enable
true and fair financial statements to be prepared.  The Minister is
empowered to direct a successor entity to produce any record
which is kept outside Australia.  This clause is equivalent to section
289 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).  

Clause 5 Director access

This clause confers upon a director of a successor Western Power
entity rights of access to financial records. This clause is equivalent
to section 290 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

 Division 3 - Financial reporting 

Subdivision 1 - Annual financial reports and directors’ reports

Clause 6 Preparation of annual financial reports and directors’ reports

This clause imposes an obligation to prepare annual financial
reports and a directors’ report for each financial year by a
successor Western Power entity before 30 September.  This clause
is equivalent to section 292 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Clause 7 Contents of annual financial report 

This clause describes the matters which must be addressed in an
annual financial report.  These matters include financial statements
(which are comprised of a profit and loss statement and a
statement of cash flows for the year, a balance sheet as at the end
of the year and consolidated profit and loss, balance sheet and
cash flow statement if this is required by the accounting standards),
notes to the financial statements and directors' declarations about
the statements and notes.  This clause also defines what is meant
by both “notes to the financial statements” and “directors’
declarations”. 

This clause is equivalent to section 295 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 8 Compliance with accounting standards and regulations 

This clause provides that a financial report must comply with
accounting standards and regulations made under the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth).  This clause is equivalent to section 296 of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).
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Clause 9 True and fair view 

This clause states that financial statements and notes in respect of
a financial year must give a true and fair view of the successor
Western Power entity’s financial position and performance.  This
clause is equivalent to section 297 of the Corporations Act 2001
(Cth).

Clause 10 Annual directors’ report 

This clause imposes an obligation on a successor Western Power
entity to prepare directors’ reports for each financial year.  The
report must contain the general and specific information required by
clauses 11 and 12 of the Schedule respectively and must:

• be made in accordance with a resolution of the directors;

• specify the date on which the report is made; and

• be signed by at least two directors. 

This clause is equivalent to section 298 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 11 Annual directors’ report – general information 

This clause describes the general information which must be
included in a directors’ report.  This clause is equivalent to section
299 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Clause 12 Annual directors’ report – specific information

This clause describes the specific information which must be
included in a directors’ report.  This clause is equivalent to section
300 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Clause 13 Annual directors’ report – other specific information

This clause describes some further specific information which is not
dealt with in clause 12 which must be included in the directors’
report.  This information is information relating to board policy for
determining the nature and amount of emoluments of board
members and senior executives and the relationship between this
policy and the performance of the successor Western Power entity.
The successor entity is also required to disclose details of the
nature and amount of emoluments of each director and the 5
highest paid senior executives.  

This clause is equivalent to section 300A of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).
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Clause 14 Audit of annual financial report 

This clause imposes an obligation on a successor Western Power
entity to have its annual financial report audited by the Auditor
General in accordance with the auditing provisions contained in the
Schedule.  This clause is equivalent to section 301 of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Subdivision 2 - Audit and auditor’s report

Clause 15 Audit opinion 

This clause provides that the Auditor General must form an opinion
about whether:

• the financial reporting of a successor Western Power entity is
in accordance with this Schedule; 

• he or she has been given all information, explanation and
assistance necessary for the conduct of the audit; 

• the financial records kept by the successor entity are adequate
to enable the preparation and audit of a financial report; and 

• the successor entity has kept other records and registers as
required by this Schedule. 

This clause is equivalent to section 307 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 16 Auditor General’s report on annual financial report 

This clause provides that the Auditor General must provide the
Minister with a report detailing whether the Auditor General believes
that the financial reporting of a successor Western Power entity is
in accordance with the requirements of this Schedule. 

Where the Auditor General does not believe that the successor
entity’s financial reporting meets the requirements of the Schedule,
the Auditor General must state the reasons for this view in his or
her report and attempt to quantify, where practicable, the effect of
this non-compliance on the financial report.  If it is not practicable to
quantify the effect of non-compliance, the report must say why.
The Auditor General’s report must describe any irregularity or
defect in the financial report and deficiency or shortcoming in
respect of the matters set out in clause 15.  

This clause is equivalent to section 308 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).
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Clause 17 Auditor General’s power to obtain information 

This clause provides that the Auditor General has a right of access
at all reasonable times to the books of a successor Western Power
entity and can require an officer of a successor entity to provide
information, explanations or other assistance for the purposes of
audit or review. 

This clause is equivalent to section 310 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 18 Assisting Auditor General 

This clause imposes an obligation on an officer of a successor
Western Power entity to allow the Auditor General to access the
books of the successor entity and give the Auditor General any
information, explanation or assistance required under clause 17 of
the Schedule.  

This clause is equivalent to section 312 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Subdivision 3 – Special provisions about consolidated financial
statements

Clause 19 Directors and officers of controlled entity to give information 

This clause imposes an obligation on a director or officer of a
controlled entity, in the event that a successor Western Power
entity is required to prepare consolidated financial statements, to
give the successor entity any information which it requests for the
purpose of preparing those statements. 

This clause is equivalent to section 323 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 20 Auditor General’s power to obtain information from controlled
entity 

This clause entitles the Auditor General to have access to the
books of a controlled entity and to require an officer of a controlled
entity to provide the Auditor General with information, explanations
or other assistance for the purposes of audit or review where the
financial reporting of a successor Western Power entity includes
consolidated financial statements.  

This clause is equivalent to section 323A of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).
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Clause 21 Controlled entity to assist the Auditor General 

This clause imposes an obligation on an officer or auditor of a
controlled entity to allow the Auditor General to access the books of
the controlled entity and give the Auditor General any information,
explanation or assistance required under clause 20 of the
Schedule.  

This clause is equivalent to section 323B of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 22 Application of subdivision to entity that has ceased to be
controlled 

This clause extends the operation of clauses 19, 20 and 21 to the
preparation or audit of a financial report that covers a controlled
entity where that entity is no longer controlled by the successor
Western Power entity concerned. 

This clause is equivalent to section 323C of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Subdivision 4 – Financial years of the corporation and the entities it
controls

Clause 23 Financial years 

This clause provides that the financial year of a successor Western
Power entity is the 12 months period ending on 30 June.

This clause is equivalent to section 323D of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

 Division 4 - Accounting standards

Clause 24 Accounting standards 

This clause states that an accounting standard applies to periods
ending after the commencement of the standard or periods ending
or starting on or after a later date specified in the standard.  This
clause also makes provision for the directors of a successor
Western Power entity to elect (in writing) to apply a particular
accounting standard from an earlier date, provided this is not
expressly prohibited in the standard.   

This clause is equivalent to section 334 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 25 Equity accounting 

This clause provides that nothing in the Schedule prevents
accounting standards from incorporating equity accounting
principles.  
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This clause is equivalent to section 335 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 26 Interpretation of accounting standards 

This clause sets out provisions relating to the interpretation of
accounting standards.  Expressions used in the accounting
standard are to be given the same meaning as they have in
Chapter 2M of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth)  unless the contrary
intention appears, and the provisions of Part 1.2 of the Corporations
Act 2001 (Cth) apply as if the standard’s provisions were provisions
of that Chapter.  

This clause is equivalent to section 337 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 27 Evidence of text of accounting standard

This clause is applicable to a document and a copy of a document
that purports to be published on behalf of the AASB or ASIC and to
set out the text of:

• a specified standard as in force at a specified time under
section 334 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth); or

• a specified provision of a standard of that kind.  

The clause provides that a document to which this clause applies is
proof in proceedings under the Bill that a specified standard was in
force at that time under that section and that the text set out in the
document is the text of the specified standard or provision of the
standard.  

This clause is equivalent to section 339 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

 Division 5 - Exemptions and modifications 

Clause 28 Treasurer’s power to make specific exemption orders 

This clause empowers the Treasurer to, upon an application made
by a successor Western Power entity, make an order in writing
exempting a director, a successor entity or the Auditor General from
complying with all or specified requirements of Divisions 2 and 3 of
the Schedule.  An application must be authorised by a resolution of
the directors and lodged with the Treasurer.  The order may be
conditional and continue for a limited or indefinite period of time.  
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The Treasurer is required to give the successor entity concerned
notice of the making, revocation or suspension of an order, and
must cause the text of an order to be laid before both Houses of
Parliament within 14 days of being made.  Where the House is not
sitting at the commencement of the 14 day period, and the
Treasurer believes it will not sit during the specified period, the
Treasurer must provide a copy of the order to the Clerk of the
House and that copy is deemed to have been laid before that
House of Parliament and to be a document published by or under
the authority of that House.  

This substance of this clause is similar to section 340 of the
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth).

Clause 29 Criteria for specific exemption orders and class orders 

This clause sets out the preconditions which must be satisfied
before the Treasurer makes an order under clause 28 of the
Schedule.  These include that complying with the requirements of
Divisions 2 and 3 would make the financial report or other reports
misleading, would be inappropriate in the circumstances or would
impose unreasonable burdens.  

This clause is equivalent to section 342 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 30 Extension of time 

This clause provides for the Minister to extend any of the time limits
imposed by this Schedule for performance of obligations by a
person other than the Auditor General.  The provisions of clause
28(5) of the Schedule apply where the Minister grants an extension
of time.

 Division 6 - Sanctions for contraventions of this Schedule 

Clause 31 Contravention of Divisions 2 and 3 

Subclause (1) of this clause provides that a director of a successor
Western Power entity contravenes this clause where he or she fails
to take all reasonable steps to comply with, or secure compliance
with, Divisions 2 or 3 of this Schedule.  Subclause (2) prescribes
the penalty for a contravention of subclause (1).  Two alternative
penalties are prescribed, the higher of the two penalties being
applicable where a breach of subclause (1) was committed with
intent to deceive or defraud the Treasurer, the Minister or creditors
of the successor entity.  

Subclause (3) of this clause provides that subclause (1) does not
apply to clauses 17, 18, 20 or 21.  

This clause is equivalent to section 344 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).
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 Division 7 - Miscellaneous 

Clause 32 Deadline for reporting to the Minister 

This clause provides that a successor Western Power entity must
provide the Minister with a copy of its annual report (as required by
clause 111 of the Bill) as soon a possible and no later than the
prescribed day.  The clause defines “prescribed day” as the 10th

working day after the receipt by the directors of the Auditor
General’s report under clause 16 of this Schedule.  

This clause is equivalent to section 315 of the Corporations Act
2001 (Cth).

Clause 33 Annual financial reporting to the Minister 

This clause sets out the documents which must be included in a
successor Western Power entity’s annual report under clause 111
of the Bill.  These include:

• the financial report for the year; 

• the directors’ report for the year; 

• the Auditor General’s report for the year; and

• a copy of any order of the Treasurer under clause 28 of this
Schedule.  

Clause 34 Audit 

This clause provides that if the Auditor General is unable to
complete the audit of a successor Western Power entity before 30
September in any year, the Auditor General must submit an interim
report to the Minister setting out the reasons why the Auditor
General has not been able to complete the audit.  The interim
report must be laid before both Houses of Parliament by the
Minister within 7 sitting days of the Minister receiving the report.  

The clause also provides that section 92 of the Financial
Administration and Audit Act applies to the audit of the successor
entity. 
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Clause 35 Powers and duties of the Auditor General 

This clause states that where the Auditor General forms the view
that there has been a contravention of any provision of the
Schedule and the contravention has not been or will not be
adequately dealt with by bringing it to the attention of the relevant
successor Western Power entity’s board or by comment in the
Auditor General’s report, the Auditor General is required to report
the matter to the Minister in writing.  The provisions of sections 78 –
80, 82 – 91 and 95 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act
apply to the successor entity as if it were a statutory authority
named in Schedule 1 of that Act.
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